
 

 

Agenda - Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a 

Seilwaith 
Lleoliad: 

Fideogynhadledd drwy Zoom 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 16 Medi 2021 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Marc Wyn Jones 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat (09.15-09.30)  

 

Yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 34.19, mae'r Cadeirydd wedi penderfynu bod y 

cyhoedd yn cael eu heithrio o gyfarfod y Pwyllgor er mwyn amddiffyn iechyd 

y cyhoedd. Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ddarlledu'n fyw ar www.senedd.tv  

 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus (09.30-11.35)  

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09.30)   

 

2 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 – Trafnidiaeth 

(09.30-10.30) (Tudalennau 1 - 57)  

Christine Boston, Cyfarwyddwr – Sustrans Cymru 

Josh Miles, Cyfarwyddwr – Cydffederasiwn Cludiant Teithwyr Cymru 

Scott Pearson, Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr, Newport Transport a Chadeirydd, 

Cymdeithas Bysiau a Choetsus Cymru 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff ymchwil 

Llythyr gan y Gweinidog a'r Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd ynghylch 

blaenoriaethau Llywodraeth Cymru mewn perthynas â newid yn yr hinsawdd, 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

yr amgylchedd a seilwaith 

Papur – Sustrans (Saesneg yn unig) 

Papur - Transform Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

Papur - Cydffederasiwn Cludiant Teithwyr Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

Egwyl (10.30-10.35)  

 

3 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 – Trafnidiaeth 

(10.35-11.35) (Tudalennau 58 - 62)  

Chris Ashley, Pennaeth Polisi – yr Amgylchedd a Rheoleiddio – Y Gymdeithas 

Cludo ar y Ffyrdd 

Mark Simmonds, Cyfarwyddwr Polisi a Materion Allanol – Cymdeithas 

Porthladdoedd Prydain  

Chris Yarsley, Rheolwr Polisi, Cymru, Canolbarth a De Orllewin Lloegr – 

Logistics UK 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur – Y Gymdeithas Cludo ar y Ffyrdd (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

4 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (vi) ac (ix) i benderfynu 

gwahardd y cyhoedd o eitemau 5, 6 a 10 o'r cyfarfod 

(11.35)   

 

Cyfarfod preifat (11.35-12.00)  

 

5 Ystyried adroddiad drafft y Pwyllgor ar y Memorandwm Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol ar gyfer Bil yr Amgylchedd 

 (Tudalennau 63 - 89)  

Dogfennau atodol: 



 

 

Adroddiad drafft y Pwyllgor ar y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar 

gyfer Bil yr Amgylchedd (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

6 Trafod blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor 

 (Tudalennau 90 - 92)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur - Blaenraglen waith 

 

Egwyl (12.00-12.45)  

 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat (12.45-13.00)  

 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus (13.00-15.05)  

 

7 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 3 – Cynllunio 

(13.00-14.00) (Tudalennau 93 - 98)  

James Davies, Prif Weithredwr – Cymorth Cynllunio Cymru 

Neil Harris, Uwch-Ddarlithydd, Yr Ysgol Daearyddiaeth a Chynllunio – 

Prifysgol Caerdydd  

Victoria Robinson, Cadeirydd – Cymdeithas Swyddogion Cynllunio Cymru 

Dr Roisin Willmott, Cyfarwyddwr Cymru a Gogledd Iwerddon a Planning Aid 

England – Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol Cymru 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur – Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

Egwyl (14.00-14.05)  

 



 

 

8 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 4 – Seilwaith 

(14.05-15.05) (Tudalennau 99 - 103)  

Ed Evans, Cyfarwyddwr – Cymdeithas Contractwyr Peirianneg Sifil Cymru 

Ian Christie, Rheolwr Gyfarwyddwr Dŵr, Cynllunio Asedau a Chyflenwi Cyfalaf 

– Dŵr Cymru 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur – Cymdeithas Contractwyr Peirianneg Sifil Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

9 Papurau i'w nodi 

(15.05)   

Cyfeiriwch at Becyn Atodol A: Papurau i'w nodi  

 

Cyfarfod preifat (15.05-15.30)  

 

10 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith Ystyried tystiolaeth a glywyd o dan 

eitemau 2, 3, 7 ac 8 

   

 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Julie James AS 

Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

Minister for Climate Change  

Lee Waters AS  

Y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

Deputy Minister for Climate Change  

Llyr Gruffydd AS   

Cadeirydd  

Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 

 30 Gorffennaf 2021 

Annwyl Llyr, 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 2 Gorffennaf 2021 ynglŷn â blaenoriaethau Llywodraeth 

Cymru mewn perthynas â newid yn yr hinsawdd, yr amgylchedd a seilwaith.  

Isod rwyf wedi amlinellu cyfres o'r meysydd ffocws â blaenoriaeth ar draws fy mhortffolio ar 

gyfer y 12–18 mis nesaf. Rwyf wedi cynnwys rhywfaint o gefndir i bob un a fydd, gobeithio, 

yn rhoi digon o wybodaeth ichi am y tro. Wrth gwrs, rwy'n fodlon ateb unrhyw gwestiynau 

eraill pan fydd eich Pwyllgor yn cwrdd.  

Gwnaethoch ofyn imi yn benodol am fy uchelgeisiau a'm cynlluniau ar gyfer COP26. Mae 

her newid yn yr hinsawdd yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i bawb weithio gyda'i gilydd ar draws 

ffiniau daearyddol a gwahanol sectorau, ac mae cydweithio'n hanfodol os ydym am lwyddo. 

Fy nod yw y bydd COP26 nid yn unig yn helpu i gyflawni ein hymrwymiadau rhyngwladol, 

ond hefyd yn darparu cyfleoedd i hyrwyddo'r enghreifftiau gwych o weithredu ar y cyd yng 

Nghymru mewn perthynas â'r hinsawdd.   

Yn hyn o beth rydym yn cysylltu â Llywodraeth y DU i fanteisio i'r eithaf ar gyfleoedd i 

Gymru yn y gynhadledd, ac rydym yn bwriadu cyhoeddi ein cynllun gweithredu ar newid 

hinsawdd tua'r un adeg â COP26 i ddangos i'r byd ein bod yn genedl sy'n gyfrifol yn fyd-

eang.  Ochr yn ochr â hyn, ‘COP Cymru’ fydd enw cynhadledd flynyddol Cymru ar yr 

hinsawdd eleni   

Newid Hinsawdd  

Mae Cymru wedi gosod targedau uchelgeisiol ar gyfer lleihau allyriadau nwyon tŷ gwydr, a 

chafodd y rhain eu diweddaru ddiwethaf ym mis Mawrth 2021, pan gytunodd y Senedd i 

osod targed i sicrhau allyriadau sero-net erbyn 2050. Mae'r targedau hyn yn seiliedig ar 

gyngor gan y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd (CCC), ein cynghorwyr statudol.   

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Tudalen y pecyn 18



Tudalen 2 o 

9   

 Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay  Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru    
 Caerdydd • Cardiff  Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales  
 CF99 1SN    
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.   
  
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 
Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.    

 
Mae Ymaddasu i Newid Hinsawdd yn disgrifio'r camau mae angen eu cymryd i ymaddasu i 

effeithiau newid yn yr hinsawdd, fel rhagor o law yn y gaeaf a hafau cynhesach a sychach. 

Mae'r Ddeddf Newid yn yr Hinsawdd yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i Weinidogion Cymru adrodd 

ar amcanion, camau gweithredu a blaenoriaethau yn y dyfodol mewn perthynas ag 

effeithiau newid yn yr hinsawdd, ac mae hefyd yn rhoi pwerau i Weinidogion Cymru mewn 

perthynas â chyrff cyhoeddus a'u hymateb nhw i’r perygl i’r hinsawdd.   

  

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cefnogi amrediad eang o brosiectau arloesol wedi’u cynllunio 

i sicrhau cynnydd o ran datgarboneiddio ac effeithlonrwydd ynni, ond mae'n dibynnu ar 

gyllid ar gyfer arloesi gan Lywodraeth y DU / BEIS ac Ewrop.   

  

Ynni  

  

Mae system ynni'r DU yn wynebu cyfnod o newid ac aflonyddu sylweddol, wrth inni 

drosglwyddo i ffynonellau ynni adnewyddadwy i ategu'r agenda ehangach ar gyfer sero-net.  

Bydd angen i'r ffordd rydym yn cynhyrchu ynni yng Nghymru esblygu yn unol â'r newidiadau 

ehangach hyn. Cyhoeddodd Llywodraeth Cymru ddatganiad cynhwysfawr yn amlinellu'r 

ffordd mae'n ymdrin â pholisi ynni yn Ynni Cymru: Newid Carbon Isel ac rydym wedi 

cyhoeddi polisïau manylach wedi hynny.  

  

Mae'r system gynllunio ddatganoledig yn un o'n harfau gorau wrth ysgogi newidiadau ledled 

Cymru yn y tymor hwy. Mae Polisi Cynllunio Cymru, ein prif ddatganiad polisi, yn rhoi 

echdynnu tanwydd ffosil ar waelod ei hierarchaeth danwydd, sydd yn ei thro yn cefnogi'r 

dyheadau am system ynni sero-net.   

  

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn gwneud llawer o waith ar amrediad o fentrau wedi'u cynllunio i 

hyrwyddo perchnogaeth gyhoeddus a lleihau allyriadau o'r sector pŵer, y sector sy’n parhau 

i fod â'r allyriadau uchaf yng Nghymru o ganlyniad i ddatblygiadau sy'n golygu bod 16% o 

drydan y DU sy'n dod o losgi nwy yn cael ei gynhyrchu yng Nghymru.    

  

Er mwyn cyflawni ein huchelgeisiau sero-net bydd angen i Gymru ddatblygu polisi mwy 

cynhwysfawr ar ddatgarboneiddio gwres, sy'n her drawsbynciol sylweddol sy'n gysylltiedig â 

pholisïau ar dlodi tanwydd, tai, masnach, diwydiant a gwastraff.   

  

Er mai Llywodraeth y DU sy'n meddu ar y prif bwerau ariannol a rheoleiddiol, mae 

Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gosod targedau ar gyfer ynni adnewyddadwy i weld:   

  

• yr hyn sy'n cyfateb i 70% o'r trydan sy'n cael ei ddefnyddio yng Nghymru yn dod o 

ffynonellau adnewyddadwy erbyn 2030;   

• 1 gigawatt o gapasiti ynni adnewyddadwy o dan berchnogaeth leol erbyn 2030,  a 

phob datblygiad ynni newydd o leiaf yn rhannol o dan berchnogaeth leol erbyn 2020.   

  

Tudalen y pecyn 19



Tudalen 3 o 

9   

Yn 2019, daeth yr hyn sy'n cyfateb i 51% o'r trydan sy'n cael ei ddefnyddio yng Nghymru o 

ffynonellau adnewyddadwy. Mae cyfradd y cynnydd wedi arafu o ganlyniad i gymhellion 

Llywodraeth y DU yn dod i ben. Rydym wedi cyrraedd 83% o'r targed i weld cynhyrchu ynni 

o dan berchnogaeth leol. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn glir ynghylch ei hymrwymiad 

i leihau'r defnydd o danwydd ffosil. Mae Cymru wedi cyhoeddi polisïau sy'n anffafriol tuag at 

echdynnu petrolewm a glo er mwyn cynhyrchu pŵer.  

  

Rydym wedi gweithio gyda phedwar rhanbarth Cymru i ddatblygu strategaethau ynni sy'n 

tynnu sylw at faint o newid sydd ei angen i gyrraedd sero net, a'r cyfleoedd economaidd y 

mae hyn yn eu cynnig. Mae hyn yn rhoi Cymru mewn sefyllfa gref i ddatblygu'r cynlluniau 

mwy manwl ac integredig sydd eu hangen i gynllunio system ynni carbon isel. Bydd y 

cyfranogiad gan y gymuned rydym yn dechrau ei weld o ganlyniad i'r gwaith hwn yn 

hanfodol er mwyn sicrhau'r cydsyniad cyhoeddus sydd ei angen i gyflawni lefel y newid 

sydd ei hangen ar draws meysydd gwres, adeiladau, trafnidiaeth a phŵer.   

  

Mae technoleg hydrogen yn ei chamau cynnar iawn, ond mae'n argoeli'n dda fel dull o 

ddatrys rhai o'n heriau datgarboneiddio.  Daeth ein hymgynghoriad ar Lwybr Hydrogen yng 

Nghymru i ben ym mis Ebrill.  

  

Rhaglen Ynni'r Môr  

   

Mae buddsoddi mewn seilwaith yn darparu ysgogiad pwysig sydd ei angen yn fawr iawn, 

gan greu'r amodau ar gyfer twf cynyddol a chynaliadwy yn y tymor canolig a'r tymor hwy.  

  

Ers 2019 mae gwaith wedi bod ar y gweill i ysgogi cynhyrchu ynni ffrwd lanw 

adnewyddadwy yn y moroedd o amgylch Cymru ac i helpu i gefnogi cynhyrchu mathau eraill 

o ynni o’r môr. Nod hyn yw creu swyddi a buddsoddiadau mewn diwydiannau newydd yng 

Nghymru.   

  

Sero-net  

  

Mae Cymru wedi ymrwymo'n ddiweddar i sicrhau sero-net erbyn 2050, ac mae hyn wedi'i 

osod mewn deddfwriaeth ochr yn ochr â chyfres o gyllidebau carbon pum mlynedd a 

thargedau ar gyfer pob degawd. Roedd Cyllideb Garbon 1 ar gyfer 2016–2021 ac yn gofyn 

am ostyngiad cyfartalog o 27%. Roedd Cyllideb Garbon 2 ar gyfer 2021–2025 ac yn gofyn 

am ostyngiad cyfartalog o 37%.  Rydym wedi ymrwymo i gyhoeddi ein Cynllun Carbon Isel 

newydd i gyd-fynd â COP26 yn Glasgow.  

  

Y targed ar gyfer y degawd 2030 yw gostyngiad o 63% yn erbyn y llinell sylfaen. Ategir hyn 

gan gyngor CCC ac mae'n adlewyrchu'r angen i'r 2020au fod yn 'ddegawd o weithredu' os 

ydym am sicrhau sero-net erbyn 2050.  

  

Mae Bwrdd Llywodraeth Cymru ar Newid Hinsawdd yn datblygu dull cyfannol er mwyn 

cyflawni’r datgarboneiddio y mae angen ei wneud ledled Cymru. Rydym yn datblygu'r 

polisïau a'r prosiectau a fydd yn ysgogi datgarboneiddio ym maes trafnidiaeth, gan gyfrannu 

at y Cynllun Cyflawni Carbon Isel cyffredinol.  

  

Mae angen inni sicrhau bod ein dull o fynd i'r afael â newid yn yr hinsawdd yn cynnwys 

Cymru gyfan, ac yn cynnwys pob unigolyn, cymuned, busnes a gwas cyhoeddus. Rhaid i 

Lywodraeth Cymru ddefnyddio pob cyfle yn ei strategaeth ar gyfer adfer o'r pandemig i 

ymgorffori ac ysgogi newidiadau cadarnhaol mewn perthynas ag allyriadau.   

Tudalen y pecyn 20



Tudalen 4 o 

9   

  

Mae Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau newydd y DU, a gyflwynwyd ym mis Ionawr 2021, yn 

cwmpasu’r prif allyrwyr yn y sectorau pŵer, diwydiant a hedfanaeth (tua 46% o gyfanswm 

allyriadau Cymru), lle mae 'lwfansau' carbon yn cael eu prynu a'u gwerthu mewn 

arwerthiannau ac mewn marchnad garbon. Mae’r Awdurdod sy’n ei reoli’n cynnwys y pedair 

gwlad ar y cyd. Nid yw wedi'i gysylltu eto â chynllun yr UE, er bod y gwledydd datganoledig 

ac elfennau o Lywodraeth y DU wedi bod yn argymell gwneud hynny ers cryn amser, ochr 

yn ochr â'r rhan fwyaf o gyfranogwyr y cynllun.  

  

Uchelgais Llywodraeth Cymru yw sector cyhoeddus sero-net erbyn 2030. Rydym yn parhau 

i yrru cynnydd yn y maes hwn ac rydym wedi datblygu fframwaith monitro i olrhain cynnydd.  

Mae Gwasanaeth Ynni Llywodraeth Cymru yn cynnig cyngor technegol ochr yn ochr â 

benthyciadau i sefydliadau yn y sector cyhoeddus a sefydliadau cymunedol ar gyfer 

prosiectau adnewyddadwy ac ôl-osod. Mae amrywiaeth eang o sefydliadau cyhoeddus wedi 

elwa ar ein rhaglen arloesi datgarboneiddio sy'n ceisio nodi a meithrin syniadau a 

chysyniadau newydd a blaengar i gefnogi gwaith ar ddatgarboneiddio, yn enwedig y rhai 

sy'n ystyried yr her o safbwynt systemau.  

  

Plannu Coed  

  

Mae'r Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd wedi gwneud argymhellion ar sut y dylai Cymru gyrraedd ei 

thargedau hinsawdd. Rhan ganolog o'r llwybr cytbwys hyd at 2050 yw cynyddu’n sylweddol 

nifer y coed sy’n cael eu plannu, gyda 43,000 hectar o goetir newydd yn cael eu plannu 

erbyn 2030, a 180,000 hectar newydd erbyn 2050. Mae hynny'n cyfateb i blannu o leiaf 

5,000 hectar y flwyddyn. Y llynedd, dim ond 290 hectar o goetir a blannwyd yng Nghymru, 

ac nid yw nifer yr hectarau o goetir sy’n cael eu creu bob blwyddyn wedi bod yn fwy na 

2,000 ers 1975. Mae datblygu Coedwig Genedlaethol ymhellach, gan gynnwys drwy blannu 

coetiroedd cymunedol, yn rhan allweddol o hyn. Mae lle hefyd i wella'r sector ehangach, a 

darparu rhagor o bren at ddibenion eraill, e.e. adeiladu yng Nghymru.   

  

Bydd gwneud hyn yn cynnwys llawer o bartneriaid, gan nad Llywodraeth Cymru a fydd yn 

plannu’r mwyafrif helaeth o goetiroedd newydd, ond cymunedau, ffermwyr a pherchnogion 

tir eraill ledled Cymru.   

Mae angen inni wella’r ffordd rydym yn gweithio gyda chymunedau a pherchnogion tir sydd 

am blannu coed, ac mae angen inni ddysgu oddi wrth arbenigedd cymunedau a 

pherchnogion tir. Mae pobl yn cael y canllawiau presennol yn gymhleth ac maent i’w gweld 

yn gyfyngol. Byddwn hefyd yn dechrau ar y gwaith o nodi ardaloedd ar gyfer 30 o 

goetiroedd newydd a 100 o Goedwigoedd Bach Iawn fel rhan o'r rhaglen Goedwig 

Genedlaethol.  

Er mwyn mynd i'r afael â'r materion hyn, cynhaliodd y Dirprwy Weinidog adolygiad trwyadl o 

blannu coed, a dyna fydd y man cychwyn ar gyfer datblygu strategaeth ar gyfer diwydiant 

pren Cymru.  Bydd yn cynnwys edrych ar rôl Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru (CNC), sydd wedi 

ymrwymo i werthu hyd at 30% o’i bren yn unol ag egwyddorion gwahanol i egwyddorion y 

model presennol, sy’n canolbwyntio ar wneud yr elw mwyaf posibl. O ran galw, cam cyntaf 

pwysig tuag at ysgogi galw uwch yw galluogi dadansoddiadau o gylch bywyd y carbon 

mewn adeiladau, gan gynnwys 'carbon ymgorfforedig' mewn deunyddiau adeiladu.  

Bydd rhagor o fanylion yn cael eu hamlinellu mewn Cynllun Gweithredu Coetir newydd i 

Gymru yn ddiweddarach eleni.   

Tudalen y pecyn 21



Tudalen 5 o 

9   

Natur a bioamrywiaeth  

  

Daeth Adroddiad ar Sefyllfa Adnoddau Naturiol (SoNaRR) 2020 i'r casgliad bod 

bioamrywiaeth yn cael ei cholli ar gyfraddau na welwyd mohonynt o’r blaen, ac mae angen i 

Gymru adeiladu rhwydweithiau ecolegol cadarn a lleihau ei heffaith y tu allan i Gymru i fynd 

i’r afael â’r broblem hon. Mae cysylltiadau rhwng safleoedd gwarchodedig yn ganolog i hyn 

ac mae ein Cynllun Rhwydweithiau Natur yn canolbwyntio ar wella cyflwr a chadernid y 

rhwydwaith o safleoedd gwarchodedig, gan gynnwys drwy gefnogi cymunedau i gymryd 

rhan weithredol yn y gwaith o ofalu amdanynt.  

  

Mae ein Cynllun Gweithredu Adfer Natur yn nodi'r amcanion a'r camau allweddol sydd eu 

hangen yng Nghymru i gyflawni ein huchelgeisiau ar gyfer adfer natur, fel rhan o gyflawni 

ein nodau ein hunain gyfer Cymru Gydnerth a'n hymrwymiadau byd-eang i atal colli 

bioamrywiaeth. Mae'n nodi blaenoriaethau Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer mynd i'r afael â 

cholli bioamrywiaeth – ond mae angen inni wneud mwy, a cynyddu ein buddsoddiadau 

mewn rhwydweithiau ecolegol cadarn a newid trawsnewidiol i wrthdroi colli bioamrywiaeth. 

Mae’n adlewyrchu’r angen i weithredu i fynd i’r afael â’r argyfwng hinsawdd a’r argyfwng ym 

myd natur, ac adeiladu rhwydweithiau ecolegol cydnerth ar draws ein holl dirwedd a 

morwedd i ddiogelu rhywogaethau a chynefinoedd a’r manteision maent yn eu darparu, gan 

roi sylw i’r problemau sydd wrth wraidd colli bioamrywiaeth, a thargedu ymyriadau er mwyn 

helpu rhywogaethau i adfer lle bo angen. Bydd y Cynllun yn cael ei ddiwygio i ystyried y 

fframwaith newydd. Rydym yn datblygu dangosyddion a fydd yn ein galluogi i sicrhau ein 

bod yn gwneud cynnydd tuag at amcanion a thargedau y cytunwyd arnynt yn rhyngwladol. 

Mae hefyd yn ofynnol inni ddiweddaru ein Polisi Adnoddau Naturiol i gyflawni ein 

dyletswyddau o dan Ddeddf yr Amgylchedd (Cymru) 2016.   

  

Ein gweledigaeth ar gyfer ein moroedd yw eu bod yn lân, yn iach, yn ddiogel, yn gynhyrchiol 

ac yn fiolegol amrywiol. Mae gan Gymru gynefinoedd morol pwysig, fel coedwigoedd 

morwellt a morfeydd heli. Mae ein dull gweithredu yn seiliedig ar asesu, diogelu a rheoli, ac 

adfer.  Mae cynllunio a rheoleiddio datblygiadau newydd mewn modd effeithiol yn hanfodol 

er mwyn galluogi twf cynaliadwy yn y sector morol, yn enwedig er mwyn datblygu prosiectau 

ynni’r môr i gyfrannu at sicrhau sero net.   

  

Economi Gylchol  

  

Mae 50% o'n carbon wedi'i ymgorffori yn y cynhyrchion a'r gwasanaethau rydym yn eu 

defnyddio. Mae sicrhau economi wirioneddol gylchol – lle rydym yn parhau i ddefnyddio 

deunyddiau cyhyd ag y bo modd, a lle mae lefelau cynyddol uwch o’n hanghenion yn cael 

eu diwallu ag opsiynau amgen, mwy cynaliadwy – yn hanfodol i ddatgarboneiddio.  Mae 

cynyddu ailgylchu a lleihau gwastraff ymhellach yn parhau i fod yn allweddol, ac mae 

gennym gyfle i ddatblygu ein seilwaith ymhellach i gael mwy o werth economaidd o'r 

deunyddiau a gesglir.    

  

Yr amgylchedd 

  

Mae ansawdd aer gwael yn cyfrannu at iechyd gwael, gyda’r bobl sydd fwyaf agored i niwed 

yn dioddef fwyaf o’r effeithiau. Mae manteisio i’r eithaf ar amcanion i wella ansawdd aer, er 

enghraifft, drwy deithio llesol, yn allweddol. Bydd y gwaith o ddatblygu Deddf Aer Glân i 

Gymru yn cael ei lywio gan yr ymatebion i’r ymgynghoriad ar y Papur Gwyn a gynhaliwyd yn 

gynharach eleni.   

  

Tudalen y pecyn 22



Tudalen 6 o 

9   

Mae'r Llywodraeth wedi ymrwymo i gyflwyno deddfwriaeth i wahardd rhagor o blastigau 

untro, ond nid yw goblygiadau Deddf y Farchnad Fewnol 2020 ar gyfer y cynigion hyn yn glir 

ar hyn o bryd.   

  

Mae cynnal a gwella ein hecosystem ddŵr ddeinamig yn ganolog i fynd i'r afael â'r heriau 

strategol ehangach sy'n ein hwynebu. Mae angen inni sicrhau bod ein systemau draenio a 

charthffosiaeth yn gynaliadwy, yn cael eu rheoli'n effeithiol a'u bod yn addas i'r diben o ran 

bodloni’r galw wrth iddo newid.  Er mwyn mynd i'r afael â'r heriau hyn, mae angen inni 

gydweithio gydag amrediad eang o randdeiliaid.  

  

Mae lleihau'r perygl o lifogydd i bobl, eiddo a seilwaith yn ein cymunedau yn flaenoriaeth 

bwysig. Ledled Cymru, mae dros 245,000 o adeiladau mewn perygl o lifogydd, gyda bron i 

400 o adeiladau eraill mewn perygl o erydu arfordirol. Ni fydd y newid yn yr hinsawdd ond 

yn cynyddu’r risgiau, Mae ein Strategaeth Genedlaethol ar gyfer Llifogydd ac Erydu 

Arfordirol yn nodi sut y byddwn yn rheoli'r risgiau dros y deng mlynedd nesaf. Mae'n 

canolbwyntio nid yn unig ar leihau'r risgiau presennol, ond hefyd ar atal problemau ar gyfer 

cenedlaethau'r dyfodol drwy wneud penderfyniadau mwy gwybodus, rheoli dŵr yn well a 

rheol llifogydd yn naturiol. Tynnodd y stormydd ym mis Chwefror 2020 sylw at y risgiau mae 

ein treftadaeth ddiwydiannol yn eu peri.  

   

Mae'r trefniadau llywodraethu amgylcheddol dros dro ar ôl diwedd cyfnod pontio'r UE wedi 

bod ar waith ers 1 Ionawr 2021. Byddwn yn parhau i weithio gyda rhanddeiliaid i ddatblygu 

trefniadau parhaol, a bydd hyn yn golygu datblygu deddfwriaeth.   

  

Trafnidiaeth  

  

Mae Gweinidogion Cymru yn uniongyrchol atebol am Rwydweithiau Ffyrdd Strategol o 

draffyrdd a chefnffyrdd yng Nghymru, ac fel awdurdod priffyrdd mae ganddynt 

ddyletswyddau a phwerau statudol i’w gweithredu mewn modd diogel, eu cynnal a’u cadw 

a’u gwella.  Awdurdodau lleol sy’n gyfrifol am ffyrdd lleol.  

  

Yn ddiweddar, gwnaethom gyhoeddi Llwybr Newydd – Strategaeth Drafnidiaeth Cymru 

2021 sy'n nodi'r weledigaeth hirdymor ar gyfer system drafnidiaeth hygyrch, gynaliadwy ac 

effeithlon. Mae hefyd yn gyfrifol am ddatgarboneiddio trafnidiaeth, gan gynnwys cerbydau 

trydan, ansawdd aer a chodi ffi ar ddefnyddwyr ffyrdd; creu lleoedd, gan gynnwys diogelwch 

ar y ffyrdd, ailddyrannu gofod ar y ffyrdd a theithio llesol a chynllun y Bathodyn Glas.  

  

Ar hyn o bryd mae'r tair rhaglen Metro yn cael eu hariannu a'u darparu drwy gyfuniad o 

ffynonellau. Mae gwaith adeiladu sylweddol ar y gweill ar Fetro De Cymru i wella 

gwasanaethau ac i integreiddio trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus a theithio llesol yn well.   

  

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn gyfrifol am weithredu'r strategaeth a'r polisïau mewn perthynas 

â Bysiau a Thrafnidiaeth Gymunedol fel y nodir yn Strategaeth Drafnidiaeth Cymru.   

  

Mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru rôl sylweddol wrth sicrhau bod y rhwydwaith trafnidiaeth yn 

cefnogi system gynaliadwy o ddosbarthu nwyddau yng Nghymru. Mae Strategaeth 

Drafnidiaeth Cymru yn ymrwymo i gynllun cyflawni cludo nwyddau a logisteg i ategu'r rôl 

hon.    

  

Mae polisi ar gyfer y rhan fwyaf o borthladdoedd Cymru a’r gwaith o’u rheoleiddio wedi'u 

datganoli, ond mae cryn dipyn o bolisi morol ehangach, gan gynnwys llongau, a gedwir yn 

Tudalen y pecyn 23



Tudalen 7 o 

9   

ôl o hyd. Mae Strategaeth Drafnidiaeth Cymru yn ymrwymo i ddatblygu strategaeth newydd 

i Gymru ar gyfer porthladdoedd a morgludo sy'n adlewyrchu’r heriau a’r cyfleoedd o 

ganlyniad i’r newidiadau i symudiadau morgludo ar ôl ymadael â’r UE.   

  

Seilwaith Digidol  

  

Gall 94% o safleoedd ledled Cymru gael mynediad at wasanaeth band eang cyflym iawn ac 

mae gan 19% o gartrefi yng Nghymru fynediad at gysylltiadau ffibr llawn. Targed 

Llywodraeth y DU yw i 85% o safleoedd yn y DU fod â mynediad at fand eang 1Gbps erbyn 

2025. Mae gan 90% o Gymru fynediad at ddarpariaeth 4G dda gan o leiaf un o'r 

gweithredwyr ac mae gan 60% ddarpariaeth gan y pedwar gweithredwr. Nod y prosiect 

Rhwydwaith Gwledig a Rennir yw cynyddu hyn i 95% â mynediad at ddarpariaeth 4G dda 

gan o leiaf un gweithredwr ac 80% gan y pedwar gweithredwr yng Nghymru erbyn 2026.  

  

Ers 2006 mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn goruchwylio contract sy’n cynnwys y sector 

cyhoeddus cyfan i ddarparu cysylltiadau i 120 o sefydliadau sector cyhoeddus, gan 

gynnwys tua 5,000 o leoliadau fel ysgolion, colegau, prifysgolion, gwasanaethau tân, yr 

heddlu, ysbytai, meddygfeydd ac adeiladau awdurdodau lleol.  

  

Llywodraeth Cymru yw partner arweiniol y consortiwm ar gyfer prosiect arloesi technoleg 5G 

symudol y Cymoedd Technoleg sy'n canolbwyntio ar gysylltu’r cefn gwlad. Mae'r prosiect, 

sy'n rhedeg tan fis Mawrth 2022, yn darparu seilwaith ac arloesedd 5G mewn rhannau o 

Flaenau Gwent a Sir Fynwy. Ystyrir bod y rhaglen yn 'braenaru’r tir’ wrth ddatblygu modelau 

newydd ar gyfer rhoi rhwydweithiau symudol posibl ar waith yn y dyfodol, ac yn gyfle posibl i 

gynyddu gwasanaethau o'r fath.  

  

Technoleg Ddigidol a Data  

  

Cyhoeddodd Llywodraeth Cymru Strategaeth Ddigidol i Gymru ym mis Mawrth 2021.  

Mae'n nodi ein huchelgais i ddarparu gwasanaethau cyhoeddus modern, effeithlon a 

symlach ar gyfer pobl Cymru, ac ar yr un pryd ysgogi arloesi yn ein heconomi a chefnogi 

canlyniadau ar gyfer heddiw a chenedlaethau'r dyfodol.  Datblygwyd Cynllun Cyflawni ar 

wahân i gefnogi'r Strategaeth. Amcanion y Strategaeth yw: Cymru Ddigidol – gwella 

bywydau pawb drwy gydweithio, arloesi a gwasanaethau cyhoeddus gwell.  

  

Sefydlwyd y Ganolfan Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Digidol fel corff hyd braich ym mis 

Mehefin 2020 i wella gallu mewn gwasanaethau cyhoeddus digidol a chefnogi'r sector 

cyhoeddus i ddatblygu prosiectau. Mae'r Ganolfan yn darparu rhaglen o hyfforddiant 

ymwybyddiaeth ddigidol i uwch arweinwyr ac aelodau etholedig ar draws y sector 

cyhoeddus. Mae hefyd yn datblygu safonau gwasanaeth cyffredin ac yn rhannu’r arferion 

gorau i sbarduno cydweithio traws-sector sy'n bodloni anghenion a disgwyliadau 

defnyddwyr.   

  

  

Tai  

  

Mae'r Rhaglen Ôl-Osod wedi’i Optimeiddio gwerth £70 miliwn yn cydweithio â Landlordiaid 

Cymdeithasol, gyda'r bwriad o baru datgarboneiddio’r grid, technolegau gwresogi newydd a 

gwelliannau i adeiladwaith gan ddefnyddio technoleg bresennol i sicrhau y gall landlordiaid 

ddechrau ar y gwaith o wneud eu cartrefi’n garbon sero-net yn ystod y degawd nesaf.  Mae 

hyn yn gwneud tai cymdeithasol batrwm enghreifftiol ar gyfer landlordiaid eraill. Mae heriau 

Tudalen y pecyn 24



Tudalen 8 o 

9   

o hyd i rentwyr preifat a pherchen-feddianwyr, ond mae’r cyfeiriad ar gyfer polisi ar dai yn 

glir. Byddwn yn dysgu ac yn defnyddio'r arfau sydd ar gael drwy’r tai cymdeithasol mae 

Llywodraeth Cymru yn eu darparu i brofi cydsyniadau, i ennill calonnau a meddyliau, ac i 

ddeall profiadau byw tenantiaid o gartrefi carbon isel.  Yna bydd y wybodaeth, y sgiliau a'r 

capasiti a enillir yn cael eu defnyddio yn y sectorau rhentu preifat a pherchen-feddianwyr.  

   

Mae’r Rhaglen Ôl-osod hefyd yn datblygu'r sgiliau a'r capasiti yn ein cadwyni cyflenwi lleol a 

busnesau bach a chanolig – nid yn unig fel is-gontractwyr i gwmnïau cenedlaethol mawr 

ond fel prif gontractwyr, ac yn sicrhau bod cymaint o'r buddsoddiadau â phosibl yn aros yng 

Nghymru.  Mae blwyddyn gyntaf y Rhaglen Ôl-osod (2020-21) yn cynnwys pum cais 

llwyddiannus, pedwar gan awdurdodau lleol ac un gan gonsortia o 27 o landlordiaid 

cymdeithasol.  Mae'r prosiect yn cael ei werthuso'n fyw wrth iddo fynd rhagddo.  

   

Ochr yn ochr â'r Rhaglen Ôl-osod, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn gweithio gyda'r Landlordiaid 

Cymdeithasol i werthuso rhaglen SATC (Safon Ansawdd Tai Cymru) hirsefydlog ac i 

ddatblygu safon ddiwygiedig. Bydd y fersiwn newydd yn ein symud ymlaen i fynd i'r afael â 

thlodi tanwydd a newid yn yr hinsawdd, gan bennu’r safonau ar gyfer ôl-osod cartrefi 

cymdeithasol.   

   

Mae'r Llywodraeth hon yn benderfynol o fynd i’r afael â’r heriau mae newid yn yr hinsawdd 

yn eu peri ym maes darparu tai. Cyn bo hir, byddwn yn rhoi safon ansawdd tai newydd ar 

waith sy'n pennu gofynion ansawdd ar gyfer tai cymdeithasol sy'n canolbwyntio ar 

hyblygrwydd, lle a chynaliadwyedd.  Bydd y safon yn cynnwys gofynion newydd uchelgeisiol 

ar gyfer dyluniadau carbon isel.  

   

Bydd landlordiaid cymdeithasol yn arwain y ffordd o ran ei gwneud yn ofynnol i gartrefi 

newydd a ariennir ag arian cyhoeddus fod o ansawdd uchel, yn hardd ac yn garbon isel.  

Mae'r safonau wedi'u cynllunio i sicrhau'r canlyniadau gorau posibl ar gyfer y gymuned, yr 

economi a llesiant, ac i gefnogi cydraddoldeb a chyfiawnder cymdeithasol.  Y nod yw y bydd 

y safonau hyn yn berthnasol i bob cartref newydd yng Nghymru yn y dyfodol.  

  

Adfywio Canol Tref  

  

Cyhoeddwyd agenda Trawsnewid Trefi ym mis Ionawr 2020 gyda phecyn cymorth ar gyfer 

canol trefi sydd bellach werth £136 miliwn. Mae hyn yn adeiladu ar y buddsoddiad 

rhagamcanol presennol o £800 miliwn mewn dros 50 o drefi ers 2014 i ailadeiladu ac 

adnewyddu adeiladau a mannau cyhoeddus a mynd i'r afael ag adeiladau gwag. Y 

flaenoriaeth yw sicrhau cynaliadwyedd hirdymor canol ein trefi a'n dinasoedd drwy gynyddu 

nifer yr ymwelwyr a'u gwneud yn lleoedd y mae pobl eisiau bod ynddynt. Mae ein rhaglen 

Trawsnewid Trefi yn canolbwyntio ar wella bioamrywiaeth a seilwaith gwyrdd; ailbwrpasu 

adeiladau sydd wedi cael eu hesgeuluso; cynyddu mannau ar gyfer gweithio hyblyg a byw; 

a darparu mynediad at wasanaethau a hamdden.  

  

Mae dau fenthyciad mawr iawn wedi cael eu rhoi i safle Ness Tar yng nghanol tref Caerffili a 

safle Hoover ym Merthyr Tudful. Rhoddwyd blaenoriaeth i'r rhain oherwydd eu hagosrwydd i 

ganol trefi a'r gallu i greu tai carbon isel o ansawdd uchel, mannau gwyrdd, a mynediad i 

lwybrau trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus. Roedd Trawsnewid Trefi yn cydnabod yr angen am adfywio 

yng ngoleuni'r heriau sy'n wynebu canol trefi. Mae'r heriau hyn, wrth gwrs, wedi cael eu 

gwaethygu gan COVID-19, ond dim ond cyflymu tueddiadau a oedd eisoes ar waith a 

wnaeth COVID.  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 25



Tudal

en 9 o 9   

  

Yn gywir   

  

  
  

Julie James AS 

Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

  

 
Lee Waters AS 

Y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid 

Hinsawdd 

Tudalen y pecyn 26



 

1 
 

 
 
 

Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth Senedd  

Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith / 

Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

PR68 

Ymateb gan Sustrans  / Evidence from Sustrans 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Submission of evidence to the Climate Change, Environment and 

Infrastructure Committee on Priorities for the Sixth Senedd Term 

 

September 2021 

 

About Sustrans  

Sustrans is the charity making it easier for people to walk and cycle. We connect people and 

places, create liveable neighbourhoods, transform the school run and deliver a happier, 

healthier commute. Sustrans works in partnership, bringing people together to find the right 

solutions. We make the case for walking and cycling by using robust evidence and showing 

what can be done. We are grounded in communities and believe that grassroots support 

combined with political leadership drives real change, fast.  

The focus of this evidence submission is the delivery of a sustainable and accessible 

transport network for Wales. This evidence is relevant to the following priorities identified by 

the Minister for Climate Change in her letter to the Committee Chair: Climate Change, Net 

Zero, Transport and Town Centre Regeneration.  

For further information about this response please contact Sara Jones, External Affairs 

Manager at sara.jones@sustrans.org.uk  

 

Introduction 

The sixth Senedd term is critical for transport in Wales with a new transport strategy setting 

ambitious targets for modal shift and climate change becoming a pressing issue.  Providing 

effective transport solutions which allow people to make sustainable journeys and reduce car 

travel must be the priority over the coming years.   

In order to achieve climate change targets, there needs to be a significant increase in the 

number of people using public transport or travelling actively.  The Welsh Government’s 

Tudalen y pecyn 27

mailto:sara.jones@sustrans.org.uk


 

2 
 

commitment for Wales to become an active travel nation requires investment into both 

infrastructure and behaviour change. 

This paper makes recommendations for Ministerial and committee priorities in order to 

deliver an increase in the number of people travelling actively. 

 

Key points 

• Transport is one of the highest carbon emitting sectors in Wales, accounting 

for 17% of Wales’ greenhouse gas emissions.  Increasing sustainable travel 

options and promoting behaviour change must be a priority for this Senedd 

term. 

• Investment into infrastructure for sustainable transport and active travel is 

needed as well as support for behaviour change programmes to ensure 

individuals have the confidence and skills needed to travel differently. 

• Those with protected characteristics tend to be under-represented in delivery 

and participation of active travel. Increasing inclusion must also be a key 

priority for this Government. 

 

 

Detailed response 

 

Increase no. & diversity of people travelling actively 

In order to achieve the Welsh Government’s climate change targets, we know we need to 

increase the number of people travelling actively.  Encouraging more people to make 

everyday journeys on foot or by bike would reduce the number of short-distance car journeys 

and tackle emissions.   

Our Cardiff Bike Life report published in 2019 found that every day cycling in Cardiff takes up 

to 14,000 cars off the road and saves 6,500 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions per year1.  

There are also benefits for health through the prevention of serious long-term health 

conditions and a reported £33.7m economic benefit for individuals in the city2.  An analysis 

of individuals from lower socio-economic groups tells us that 73% of residents in groups D & 

E never cycle and would like to. This amounts to 1,900 individuals in Cardiff alone3.   

Currently, we know that it is predominantly white males who are cycling and we need to do 

more to tackle barriers for those with protected characteristics.  Women, for example, are not 

a minority group but are less likely than men to travel by cycle (14% compared with 31%)4.  

Our research tell us that two-thirds of both men and women think cycle safety needs to be 

improved and 80% say that good quality infrastructure is key to helping us increase the 

number of people cycling5.  Since this report was published, Cardiff has made great strides 

 
1 Sustrans (2019) Bike Life – Cardiff, Available at: https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-cardiff  
2 Ibid. 
3 Ibid. 
4 Ibid. 
5 Ibid. 

Tudalen y pecyn 28

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-cardiff


 

3 
 

in the roll out of cycling infrastructure and this now needs to be mirrored by other towns and 

cities across Wales. 

In Cardiff, 50% more non-disabled people than disabled people cycle (26% compared with 

12%)6.  One of the issues we hear about on a regular basis from people with disabilities 

wanting to access the National Cycle Network is that access barriers make it impossible. 

Fear of anti-social behaviour is preventing authorities from providing access to those who 

need it most.  It is also preventing access for a range of different cycles as well as 

wheelchairs and pushchairs.  The market is diversifying and cargo bikes, adapted cycles, 

tandems, trailers and more are becoming increasingly common. In order to achieve the 

Welsh Government’s vision for Wales to become an ‘active travel nation’7 the National Cycle 

Network needs to be barrier free so that it can be a space for everyone. 

In order to achieve an increase in active travel, Wales needs clear targets which should 

include indicators for diversity.  It will also be critical to invest in behaviour change 

programmes to increase skills and confidence to make active travel the number one choice 

for everyday journeys. 

 

Recommendations: 

• Develop clear targets for active travel to monitor the number and diversity of 
people travelling actively. 
 

• Require that Local Authorities remove access barriers on the National Cycle 
Network to ensure routes are provided for everyone. 
 

• Invest in behaviour change programmes to increase confidence and skills so 
that individuals can make more active journeys. 

 

Budget & investment 

Up until now, the transport system in Wales has heavily focused on the private car. While 

62% of the transport capital budget was being spent on building new roads8, 23% of the 

population of Wales does not have access to a car9. By comparison, Wales has one of the 

lowest per capita spends on public transport in the UK10.   

We must reduce motor vehicle use rapidly and fairly. For this to happen, our focus needs to 

shift away from investing in our trunk road network and towards prioritising the improvement 

and development of our rail, bus and active travel services. While there is not a single 

solution, it is clear that building new roads only encourages more people to drive through 

 
6 Ibid. 
7 Welsh Government (2021) Llwybr Newydd: The Wales Transport Strategy 2021. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021  
8 Future Generations Report 2020, Commission for the Wellbeing of Future Generations. Available at: 
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Chap-5-Transport.pdf  
9 Statistical Bulletin: Public Service Vehicles (buses and taxis), Welsh Government. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/public-service-vehicles-buses-and-
taxis-april-2017-to-march-2018_0.pdf 
10 Investigation into devolved funding, HM Treasury. Available at: https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/02/Investigation-into-devolved-funding.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

https://gov.wales/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Chap-5-Transport.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/public-service-vehicles-buses-and-taxis-april-2017-to-march-2018_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/public-service-vehicles-buses-and-taxis-april-2017-to-march-2018_0.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Investigation-into-devolved-funding.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Investigation-into-devolved-funding.pdf


 

4 
 

‘induced demand’. Analysis of road schemes shows that road building increases traffic by up 

to 47%, over and above background traffic growth.11 

We commend Welsh Government for making the decision to review all road-building projects 

that do not yet have a spade in the ground. We now expect funding cycles and budget 

allocation for transport to reflect the same bold leadership which demonstrates commitment 

to change. 

Following the decisions from the Scottish Government to bring Active Travel funding to at 

least £320m or 10% of the total transport budget by 2024-2512, and in the light of the 

commitment set out in Llwybr Newydd to make Wales an Active Travel Nation by 2030, we 

expect similar levels of bold leadership from Welsh Government.  

One issue that we are aware of is that Local Authorities face challenges in procuring the 

skills and expertise that they need to deliver effective active travel schemes.  Currently, 

whilst commissioning frameworks do include transport, the weighing favours service 

providers that deliver conventional ‘car-focused’ transport networks which goes against what 

the Welsh Government is trying to achieve.  In order to ensure a clear message about the 

importance of active travel, Wales needs to ensure the procurement framework supports 

Authorities to commission the expertise needed to deliver.  There is a skills shortage in 

active travel and we believe an active travel framework would also drive skills development 

within delivery organisations, leading to an overall improvement in the quality of 

infrastructure. 

 

Recommendations: 

• Dedicate at least 10% of the total transport budget to active travel to ensure 
Local Authorities are equipped to deliver the Active Travel Act. 

• Create a separate capital fund of £20m each year for the development and 
improvement of the National Cycle Network to ensure it is well maintained 
and fully accessible for everyone. 
 

• Develop an active travel framework for procurement to ensure Local 
Authorities can access the skills they need and drive standards in the sector. 

 

Place-making 

Wales faces significant challenges when it comes to air quality. Public Health Wales 

estimates that there are the equivalent of around 2,700 deaths attributable to fine particulate 

matter (PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exposure - each year in Wales13. Poor air quality 

will remain a problem without a reduction in overall car use, given that tyre and brake wear 

account for up to 45% of particulate emissions. The people most likely to suffer from the 

impact of poor air quality are those least likely to have contributed such as those in deprived 

 
11 Transport for Quality of Life and CPRE, 2017. The end of the road. https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/11/TfQLZZTheZImpactZofZRoadZProjectsZinZEnglandZ2017.pdf 
12 https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-and-scottish-green-party-shared-policy-
programme/pages/responding-to-the-climate-emergency/  
13 'Estimating the mortality burden of air pollution in Wales'. Available at: 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/opendoc/317890 

Tudalen y pecyn 30

https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/TfQLZZTheZImpactZofZRoadZProjectsZinZEnglandZ2017.pdf
https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/TfQLZZTheZImpactZofZRoadZProjectsZinZEnglandZ2017.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-and-scottish-green-party-shared-policy-programme/pages/responding-to-the-climate-emergency/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-and-scottish-green-party-shared-policy-programme/pages/responding-to-the-climate-emergency/
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/opendoc/317890


 

5 
 

communities, older people, children and people with disabilities.  Furthermore, cars 

represent a physical danger in our communities which again, impacts vulnerable people. 

 

As a result of the Covid-19 crisis, there was an acceleration of active travel schemes across 

Local Authorities.  As restrictions have eased, many of these schemes have been removed 

in Wales which means it has not been possible to gauge how effective these schemes would 

be now people are travelling again.  We are also aware of pedestrianisation schemes being 

removed despite Welsh Government policy being clear that we should be encouraging 

people to walk and cycle.  Schemes have been delivered at public expense and are being 

removed at great cost also.  If Wales is going to achieve climate targets and improve public 

health, we must ensure decisions which deliver national policy and strategy.   

There are some examples of good practice in Wales with some authorities taking forward 

school streets projects14 or offering free bus travel15.  At the same time, we are also seeing 

‘free parking in the town centre’ offers and the removal of green space to create more 

parking bays.  We are all very aware that the Welsh Government and some Local Authorities 

have declared a climate emergency and during this Senedd term, we need to see evidence 

of this commitment through a change of approach at a local level.  

  

Recommendations: 

• Increase the level of ambition at a local level to deliver walking and cycling 
initiatives and encourage sustainable travel.   
 

Reducing car dependency 

Diesel and petrol cars are a major contributor to transport emissions. Solutions like electric 
vehicles can help with reducing tailpipe emissions, however, emissions from manufacturing 
and from electricity generation for EVs remain, as well as severe particulate matter pollution.  

The Tyndall Centre for climate change research has found that even if all new cars were 
ULEVs by 2035 (80% battery electric, 20% plug-in hybrids), a 58% reduction in car mileage 
between 2016 and 2035 would be needed for car CO2 emissions to be in line with a ‘well 
below 2°C’ pathway16. Transport for Quality of Life also estimate that necessary mileage 
reduction could be as low as 20% or as high as 60% by 2030 (assuming a 2040 ban)17.  

This is why, it needs to be understood that a switch to electric cars cannot be the whole 

solution.  Instead, the focus should be on reducing the number of vehicles on the road. 

Other practical considerations of electric vehicles are around charging facilities.  We have 

already seen chargers installed on the pavement by some local authorities in Wales and we 

know that households in some areas are running a cable across the pavement to charge the 

vehicle. This clearly disadvantages pedestrians and vulnerable road users. The cost of 

 
14 Nurse, R. (2021) Fairfield Primary School in Penarth Aims to Improve Air Quality for Children. 
Available at: https://www.penarthtimes.co.uk/news/19480494.fairfield-primary-school-penarth-aims-
improve-air-quality-children/  
15 Arlow, C. (2021) Bus Travel Will Be Free to All Four-Days-A-Week in Swansea This Summer. 
Available at: https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/swansea-council-free-bus-travel-
21099366  
16 Friends of the Earth (2019) More than electric cars, available at: 
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/insight/more-electric-cars  
17 Ibid. 

Tudalen y pecyn 31

https://www.penarthtimes.co.uk/news/19480494.fairfield-primary-school-penarth-aims-improve-air-quality-children/
https://www.penarthtimes.co.uk/news/19480494.fairfield-primary-school-penarth-aims-improve-air-quality-children/
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/swansea-council-free-bus-travel-21099366
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/swansea-council-free-bus-travel-21099366
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/insight/more-electric-cars


 

6 
 

electric cars is a barrier for many and the focus on switching to EV risks creating an even 

wider gap in those who have access to transport and those who do not. 

There can be no doubt that Covid-19 has changed the way we move around and we 

welcome the Welsh Government’s ambition to engender more homeworking and use of 

sustainable transport in the future. With our lives increasingly normalising again, we are now, 

however, facing the resurgence of private vehicles on our roads, with car usage creeping 

back to pre-pandemic levels or higher18.  

Without concerted action from the Welsh Government and key delivery partners, there is a 

real risk that the recovery from Covid-19 will be heavily car dependent, with all the social, 

environmental and economic costs that comes with excessive reliance on private vehicles 

without a viable sustainable transport alternative.  

Recommendation: 

• Conduct an urgent inquiry into options for reducing car dependency to avoid a 

car-led recovery and deliver change as quickly and effectively as possible. 

 

Conclusion 

We know that to achieve climate goals, we need to reduce reliance on the private car and 

increase the number of people travelling actively. The Welsh Government has shown 

increasing support for active travel which is welcome. As Llwybr Newydd and the 

Programme for Government set out a vision for Wales to become an Active Travel Nation, 

we now need further action to make this a reality.  Furthermore, we need focus and 

investment on sustainable travel options along with funding for behaviour change to reduce 

the number of car journeys and support the switch to sustainable travel.  

 
18 Road Traffic Statistics, UK Government. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-
data-sets/road-traffic-statistics-tra 

Tudalen y pecyn 32

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/road-traffic-statistics-tra
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/road-traffic-statistics-tra


Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth Senedd 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith /  
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
PR83 
Ymateb gan Transform Cymru / Evidence from Transform Cymru 

 

 

September 2021 

 

About Transform Cymru 

 

Transform Cymru is a coalition of organisations that provides advice and support for 

policy makers on transport issues.  A diverse membership represents transport, 

equalities and sustainability with a focus on user experience.  Our vision is for a 

sustainable and inclusive transport network for Wales.      

We welcome the opportunity to participate in this inquiry and set out our priorities for 

the sixth Senedd term below. 

Find out more about Transform Cymru and read our vision in full by visiting our 

website: www.transformcymru.org  

 

 

Key points 

1) Transport is one of the top 3 highest emitting sectors in Wales which 

makes modal shift a priority. As energy is also in the top 3, a switch to 

electric cannot be the whole answer. 

 

2) Covid-19 has led to the demonization of public transport and action 

must be taken to avoid a car-led recovery.  

 

3) Ensuring transport is sustainable and inclusive through the effective 

delivery of the Wales Transport Strategy - Llwybr Newydd - is a key 

priority for this Senedd term. 

 

 

Introduction 

Tudalen y pecyn 33

http://www.transformcymru.org/


Having access to transport is essential for experiencing and enjoying everyday life 

and yet many people across Wales face barriers to accessing transport which makes 

them socially excluded.  We also know that addressing transport emissions is a key 

priority in tackling climate change and improving air quality.   

We must remember that transport is a key enabler and has a critical role to play in 

supporting other policy areas such as economy and health.  The key message here 

is that transport is a social justice issue and an essential public service and we must 

ensure a high quality, affordable and accessible service that delivers for everyone, 

particularly those who need it most. 

Urgent action is needed to reduce the number of car journeys made by individuals 

and support people to travel sustainably.  This cannot be achieved through a mass 

switch to electric cars; this may be part of the answer but ultimately, the key 

message has to be ‘fewer cars, not newer cars’. 

In the last 18 months, the Welsh Government has taken positive steps in tackling 

transport emissions.  We fully support their actions to realise the potential of 

community transport; develop community car clubs; and increase access to electric 

bikes.  We also commend the Welsh Government’s commitment to seize the 

opportunity provided by the Covid-19 pandemic and promote flexible and remote 

working to reduce the need for people to travel.    

In terms of public policy, the recently published transport strategy ‘Llwybr Newydd’, 

sets a target for 45% modal shift and makes a commitment for Wales to become an 

active travel nation by 2030.  We now need to turn this policy into reality and ensure 

all partners are focused on the delivery of sustainable and inclusive transport that 

leaves no-one behind.  

This committee will have a key role to play in ensuring the Welsh Government 

delivers on their transport strategy and that transport remains a high priority for the 

Minister and Deputy Minister for Climate Change. 

 

Key priorities for transport: 

 

1) Funding and investment  

 

Budgets - we know that budgets are tight. However, we also know that 62% of 

the capital transport budget in Wales was being spent on building new roads.  

There have been some major decisions on road building in Wales which we fully 

commend such as the roads review and the scrapping of the new M4 corridor. 

We know that the view of the public is that the alternatives to car use are 

impractical and that we need to invest in alternative options.  Public transport 

must become efficient, reliable, accessible and affordable in order for people to 

consider it a viable option. In the Deputy Minister’s own words – ‘we must make 

the right thing to do, the easy thing to do’. We suggest that the capital funding 

saved from major road schemes should be redirected into public transport, 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



community transport and active travel. Infrastructure alone, however, will not be 

enough; for investment into sustainable travel schemes to realise their potential, 

we also need to increase revenue funding for behaviour change projects to build 

confidence and develop skills for the general public to facilitate sustainable 

journeys.   

Services - Throughout the pandemic, passenger numbers for bus, rail and 

community transport have plummeted. Despite keeping services open for those 

who rely on public transport, there has been a discouraging tone which continues 

to keep people away.  In fact, the Welsh Government’s current guidance for 

employers suggests that ‘use of alternative transport to get to work’ is one control 

measure for reducing the risk of Covid-19.  It will be impossible to deliver modal 

shift if the messaging remains negative. It also puts services at risk and whilst the 

Welsh Government has supported operators throughout the pandemic, there are 

concerns this may not continue and with reduced farebox revenue, services will 

be impossible to sustain. 

Funding cycles – the current annual funding cycle is too short and with late 

decisions, it becomes impossible for organisations to deliver effectively.  The 

Welsh Government must find a way to provide longer term decisions so that the 

focus can move to delivering quality and standards rather than a constant focus 

on financial sustainability and for many, survival.   

Recommendations: 

• Protect public transport services and increase sustainable travel 

options by reallocating road building funds to public transport and 

active travel.  This should ensure at least 10% for active travel and 

working with public transport operators to ensure sustainable services. 

 

• Provide longer term funding agreements for the transport sector to 

enable longer term planning for sustainable services. 

 

2) Reducing car dependency 

 

Covid-19 - Covid allowed us all to see what life could be like with fewer cars on 

the road. With extreme congestion creeping back and air quality reducing once 

more, we know we have to tackle car dependency.  This doesn’t mean that 

people need to live without a car but they could commit to making fewer car 

journeys or consider sharing a vehicle either with their own household or in the 

local community.  Welsh Government is looking to progress community-based 

car clubs and are supporting demand responsive schemes which ensure 

alternatives are available. 

The pandemic has led to passengers being actively told to avoid public transport 

where possible.  As highlighted above, Welsh Government guidance for 

employers alludes to the use of private transport as a control measure in 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



reducing the risk.  The danger of this is that we see a car-led recovery with the 

congestions and pollution that goes with that.  It also means continued revenue 

losses for public transport which is likely to lead to a reduction or removal of 

services and a possible increase in fares for remaining services, making those 

who rely on public transport further excluded.  This demonization of public 

transport must be addressed in order to ensure a sustainable and inclusive 

recovery. 

Public health - It is also important to remember that cars are detrimental to 

public health.  Further to the dangers of carbon emissions, road transport is 

responsible for 80% of roadside NO2 pollution where legal limits are being 

broken.  In London, 60% of particulate matter has been found to come from road 

transport: 45% from tyre and brake wear and 15% from exhaust emissions.  This 

means that electric cars will still have a negative impact on air quality and are 

therefore are not the whole answer to the challenge that we face.  Air pollution is 

increasingly recognised as a threat to public health with the first death from poor 

air quality recorded last year. In Wales, it is estimated that 4 deaths per day are 

caused by air pollution and it is important to note that those most likely to suffer 

from the impacts of poor air quality are the most vulnerable in our society and 

those least likely to have contributed (i.e. deprived communities, older people, 

children, people with disabilities).  Furthermore, cars represent a danger in our 

communities which particularly impacts vulnerable people. 

 

Removal of active travel schemes - We know that Local Authorities have been 

removing active travel schemes and pedestrianised zones despite Welsh 

Government policy being clear that we should be encouraging people to walk and 

cycle.  The argument for the removal of schemes has been either opposition from 

the business community or re-direction of traffic affecting air quality in residential 

areas.  We suggest that the issue is exacerbated by a lack of behaviour change 

support that would encourage people to travel differently and enjoy the benefits of 

pedestrianised zones.  Currently, the availability of capital funding and lack of 

revenue, means that we are schemes being introduced and then removed at 

public expense without any moves to maximise potential and give the schemes 

time to embed. 

In Wales, there needs to be some serious discussion about how we can reduce 

car dependency and improve air quality.   

Recommendations: 

• Government investment in behaviour change programmes to maximise 

the potential of active travel infrastructure. 

 

• A public health campaign to increase public awareness of the 

importance of behaviour change and the benefits of reduced car travel. 

 

• An urgent inquiry into options for reducing car dependency to ensure 

change is delivered as quickly and effectively as possible. 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



 

3) Leadership 

Responding to the crisis - It is leadership that makes change happen.  In 

Wales, many Authorities have declared a climate emergency and we know there 

is an urgent need for action.  In the transport space, there are some authorities 

demonstrating a commitment by taking forward school streets projects or offering 

free bus travel.  At the same time, however, we are also seeing Authorities taking 

green space to create more parking; offering free parking as an incentive for 

coming to the town centre; and situating EV charging points on public foot paths. 

Policy and practice needs to be more joined up at all levels and across 

departments.  We need transport planning, highways delivery, regeneration, 

housing and more to align their approaches and ensure we can all work together 

to deliver modal shift. 

As we approach the local elections, Welsh Government should consider how new 

administrations can be supported to develop knowledge and expertise to deliver 

interventions at a local level that will deliver climate targets.  Furthermore, our 

members report a disconnect between Welsh Government, Transport for Wales 

and Local Authorities in the delivery of schemes and initiatives.  Success will only 

be achieved if all organisations work together to deliver a shared goal.   

Recommendations: 

• The Welsh Government should ensure a joined up approach across 

Authorities and Departments to ensure all organisations are working 

together to deliver shared goals. 

 

• Leaders at all levels should demonstrate their commitment to change by 

setting an example to the public by actively using public transport and 

active travel, thereby demonstrating confidence and role modelling 

behaviour change. 

 

4) Diversity 

Accessible and inclusive transport – Llwybr Newydd (the Wales Transport 

Strategy) has 4 pillars with one of these being access and inclusion. As such, 

there should be a strong emphasis on developing and delivering inclusive 

services.  Transform Cymru has a wide reach through members that are working 

in the community and the expertise available in this group should be utilised in 

developing the National Transport Plan which will ensure delivery of national 

strategy.   

Diversifying the transport workforce - Another extremely important action is to 

increase diversity in the transport workforce, including in management and senior 

roles.  Figures from a survey of transport professionals showed that transport 

decision makers face fewer barriers to accessing transport than the general 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



public (32% compared with 75% of transport users)1. Evidence also tells us that 

organisations with a diverse workforce have a better understanding of their 

customers and therefore offer a better service for passengers. 

Recommendations: 

• Ensure engagement with representative bodies through Transform 

Cymru to ensure the delivery of equalities outcomes as defined in 

Llwybr Newydd. 

 

• Increase diversity in the transport workforce to ensure better 

representation of the population in order to develop and deliver services 

that meet the needs of all passengers. 

 

5) Rural transport 

Transport innovation - It has to be recognised that 80% of Wales is classed as 
rural and the delivery of transport services in these communities requires a 
different model than urban areas. We believe, however, that there are many 
examples of transport innovation in rural areas which is pushing the boundaries 
of what is possible. For example, we are aware of organisations offering access 
to electric cars and e-bikes, some of which are linked to community energy.  
Examples of this include Partneriaeth Ogwen in Bethesda, offering free access to 
retro-fitted e-bikes; and a scheme in Montgomery that has refurbished 530 
bicycles and passed them on free of charge to those returning to cycling. 
Furthermore, community transport organisations and the newly developed Fflecsi 
service offer demand responsive services for rural communities. 

Bus services - A recent report published by the WI on rural bus services found 
that less than 1 in 5 survey respondents living in rural areas said they have 
access to a frequent, reliable bus service2. Of those respondents, 25% said that 
cuts to bus services have made them feel more isolated, and 19% said their 
mental health had been negatively affected3. This research found that cuts to bus 
services have led to a reduction in longer journeys by public transport because 
passengers can no longer connect to other services. 72% said that their 
dependency on using a car and reliance on family and friends had increased4. 

Transform Cymru would like to see improved services for rural areas which make 
public transport a viable option. We understand that a timetabled service along a 
fixed route may not be the answer but the Welsh Government must continue with 
their efforts to connect rural communities through a range of means suitable for 
those communities. The fundamental travel requirements in each area must be 

 
1 European Commission (2014) European’s satisfaction with urban transport, report no. 382b. 
2 Women’s Institute (2019) A New Route for Bus Services, available at: 
https://www.thewi.org.uk/campaigns/news-and-events/national-federation-of-womens-institutes-nfwi-
launches-new-report-into-local-bus-services  
3 Ibid. 
4 Ibid. 

Tudalen y pecyn 38

https://www.thewi.org.uk/campaigns/news-and-events/national-federation-of-womens-institutes-nfwi-launches-new-report-into-local-bus-services
https://www.thewi.org.uk/campaigns/news-and-events/national-federation-of-womens-institutes-nfwi-launches-new-report-into-local-bus-services


understood by a consultation process so as to ensure that the correct solutions 
are devised. 

Active travel - Finally, there has previously been a challenge to active travel as a 
solution for everyday journeys in rural areas but the development of e-bikes has 
helped to break down barriers. The National Cycle Network provides many traffic 
free routes but there is also a need to make rural roads safer.  Current figures 
show that a higher proportion of walkers and cyclists in rural areas are killed in 
road accidents than in urban areas5. We know that there is an increasing number 
of people in rural areas that want to travel actively, especially with the advent of 
e-bikes.  In order to make active travel safer for rural journeys, we believe a 40 
mile limit should be imposed on most rural roads to reduce serious accidents 
amongst those travelling on foot or by bike.  Finally, it is crucial that active travel 
funding is extended to areas that are below the population criteria presently 
required as many rural populations desperately need to be able to access their 
service provision in towns using active travel. 

Recommendations: 

• Protect rural transport services and support innovative solutions to 
mobility in rural areas. 
 

• Introduce a 40 mile speed limit for most rural roads. 
 

• Understand local travel needs through local consultation and 
engagement. 
 

• Extend the Active travel funding into rural areas so that the sizeable 
desire to travel can be enabled through suitable infrastructure. 

 

Conclusion 

Tackling transport emissions and modal shift is a key priority for the sixth Senedd 

term and the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure committee has a 

critical role to play in ensuring this remains high on the agenda.  Earlier in the year, 

the Welsh Government adopted Llwybr Newydd as their new transport strategy for 

Wales and the focus needs to be on delivering the strategy, ensuring the target for 

modal shift is achieved, services become more accessible and inclusive and Wales 

becomes an active travel nation. 

 
5 DfT custom data accessed via: https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/custom-downloads  

Tudalen y pecyn 39

https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/custom-downloads


CPT Cymru 

Confederation of Passenger Transport Cymru 

Mobile: 07827 341499  email: josh.miles@cpt-uk.org   website: www.cpt-uk.org 

A company limited by guarantee No. 1182437 England   Registered office: Drury House  34-43 Russell Street  London  WC2B 5HA 

Dear Llyr, 

Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to the Climate Change, Environment 
and Infrastructure Committee’s call for evidence on its priorities over the coming 12-18 
months. The Committee has a vital role to play in scrutinising the Welsh Government 
on matters around climate change and the environment, particularly as we transition 
towards a low carbon economy in order to meet Wales’ statutory climate change targets. 

As the organisation representing coach and bus operators of all sizes in Wales, CPT Cymru 
looks forward to working closely with you to ensure the policy developed in Wales helps 
us to achieve those targets in a positive and equitable way.  

CPT Cymru has identified the following issues as key priorities for the Committee 
in undertaking its work scrutinising Welsh Government: 

Recovery from Covid-19 
Whilst the restrictions on operator activity has largely eased, the longer-term impact 
of Covid-19 is a major issue going forward. For bus operators, the Bus Emergency 
Scheme 2 will come to an end in July 2022. Should passenger levels not recover by then, 
there is likely to be significant pressure on bus networks that could lead to increased 
fares or reduced service levels without government support.  

Furthermore, as a result of issues at the DVLA and DVSA and broader labour market trends, 
both bus and coach operators are currently experiencing a driver shortage that has put 
an upward pressure on costs and placed services at risk. For coach operators in particular 
this will be a concern as school services return in September. 

As such, the Committee should undertake an inquiry into the transition out of 
current Covid-19 support arrangements for services.  

Implementation of Llwybr Newydd 
The publication of Llwybr Newydd earlier on in the year marked a step change in 
Welsh Government’s transport policy, with a stretching ambition to shift from 32% of 
journeys made by sustainable mans to 45% made by sustainable means. This will 
require a significant amount of policy change in order to realise and CPT Cymru is clear 
that both bus and coach operations offer part of the solution in getting us towards this level 
of modal shift.  

Under the transport strategy, a number of accompanying delivery plans were 
promised including a Statement of Funds Available (SoFA), National Transport Delivery Plan 
(NTDP) a Decarbonisation Pathway, Equality Pathway, an Integrated Journey Planning 
Pathway and a Rural Pathway. Furthermore, Llwybr Newydd envisaged a layer of Regional 
Transport Plans. 

Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth Senedd
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith / 
Climate Change,Environment and Infrastructure Committee
PR43
Ymateb gan Cydffederasiwn Cludiant Teithwyr Cymru / 
Evidence from Confederation of Passenger Transport Cymru

Tudalen y pecyn 40



CPT Cymru 

Confederation of Passenger Transport Cymru 

Mobile: 07827 341499  email: josh.miles@cpt-uk.org   website: www.cpt-uk.org 

A company limited by guarantee No. 1182437 England   Registered office: Drury House  34-43 Russell Street  London  WC2B 5HA 

With so much of the delivery of Llwybr Newydd still to be determined by these subsequent 
documents, the Committee should consider an inquiry into the delivery of Llwybr Newydd 
in the next 18 months. 

Bus Plan and Bus Services Legislation 
Welsh Government has committed to publishing a Bus Plan for Wales under the current 
transport strategy Llwybr Newydd. This, along with a new Bus Services Bill proposal are 
suggested to be published by the end of 2021 and will mark a significant change in the 
landscape for bus services in Wales.  

The proposals are likely to relate to three key areas; the regulatory model for bus services, 
the local government footprint and regional organisation and policy ambitions relating to 
transition of the fleet to zero-carbon emissions.  

CPT Cymru has set out its proposals for the bus plan and legislation in the attached 
document. The Committee should undertake an inquiry into bus services in Wales to 
inform the development of this policy concurrently with Welsh Government.  

Clean Air Bill 
Welsh Government has a commitment to a clean air Bill during the life of this Senedd term. 
Such a Bill will have significant implications for bus and coach operations in Wales. For 
instance, many coach operators run tourism-based services from rural areas into Wales’ 
major cities or to our tourism hotspots such as in Snowdonia. Done correctly, clean air 
legislation has the potential to disincentivise excessive car use in these areas, which brings 
with it harmful emissions, and instead to encourage a shift to bus and coach operations that 
are better for the environment.  

Furthermore, clean air legislation is likely to have a significant impact on the vehicles used 
by operators across the broad range of services our members provide such as home to 
school transport, regular bus services, long distance coach travel and private hire activity. 
Scotland, for example, introduced its Scottish Bus Abatement Retrofit Fund (BEAR) to help 
coaches reach emission standards for entry into their low emission zones.  

As such, the Committee should undertake an inquiry into Wales’ approach to Clean Air 
policy and legislation. 

Conclusion 
CPT Cymru welcomes the opportunity to contribute to the Committees priorities over the 
coming 18 months. The Committee will have a key role to play in scrutinising Welsh 
Government and helping to improve the policy development process in Wales. CPT Cymru 
looks forward to engaging its membership in the important work undertaken by the 
Committee. 

Your sincerely, 

J W Miles 

Joshua Miles 

Director CPT Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



 
CPT Cymru 

 
Confederation of Passenger Transport Cymru 

Mobile: 07827 341499  email: josh.miles@cpt-uk.org     website: www.cpt-uk.org 

 
A company limited by guarantee No. 1182437 England   Registered office: Drury House  34-43 Russell Street  London  WC2B 5HA 

 

 

About CPT Cymru 
Cydffederasiwn Cludwyr Teithwyr Cymru/The Confederation of Passenger Transport Wales 
(CPTCymru) is the professional trade association of the bus and coach industry in Wales 
and is part of CPT UK. Its members in Wales include operators forming part of large 
multinational transport operators, municipally owned operators, medium sized independent 
operators and small family businesses. CPT Cymru members provide over 80% of all bus 
journeys and some 70% of all public transport journeys made across Wales. Our members 
are often significant local employers, especially in the rural parts of Wales, and make major 
contributions to their local economies. The bus and coach industry as a whole employs 
some 4000 people across Wales. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



 
CPT Cymru 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

09.09.2021 
 
National Bus Strategy for Wales – Bws Cymru 
A CPT Cymru Approach 
 
A Vision for Wales’ Bus Sector 
The development of a strategy for bus services in Wales by the Welsh Government comes at a 
critical juncture for bus travel in Wales, across the UK and globally. As the world emerges from the 
pandemic and continues to grapple with key challenges such as climate change, the decisions made 
now will have a bearing on the future of services for many years. Wales has an opportunity to lead 
the way and to innovate by setting out long-term interventions that lead to real modal shift away 
from car use and to make our bus services part of the solution in tackling climate change. 
 
The creation of a National Bus Strategy would help ensure greater coordination of bus policy across 
government and help deliver long term funding. Our vision is of a bus network that is clean, flexible, 
and easy to use. It needs to be given priority, along with improved supporting infrastructure, if we 
are to better connect our communities, support successful economies, drive up productivity and 
meet the country’s net zero carbon emission targets. 
 
Introduction 
This document sets out CPT Cymru’s approach to a National Bus Strategy for Wales. It highlights the 
approach that bus operators would like to see undertaken by Welsh Government across the broad 
policy objectives over the life of the new Welsh Parliament and beyond. It does not cover in granular 
detail activities that would be undertaken by regional or local bodies, or by individual operators. 
Rather, it sets out a vision for the sector as a whole and the policy and institutional governance 
needed to deliver it.  
 
The context for the document is important. As Wales emerges from the worst stages of the 
pandemic, the bus sector has been under sustained pressure from lockdowns and changes in 
passenger behaviour that may become permanent. The Welsh Government has provided significant 
support to the sector throughout the pandemic, without which many operators may not have been 
able to continue to provide the service passengers need. Moreover, we now have the Bus 
Emergency Scheme 2 to help us through the transition out of covid restrictions and into a new era of 
bus policy in Wales.  
 
Operators want to return to commercial operations in an organised and sustainable way. However, 
against the backdrop of regulatory uncertainty and significant change in the organisation of the 
public sector on transport issues, they need certainty to do so. BES 2 allows us to achieve this 
through progressing the Umbrella Partnership Agreements with Transport for Wales (TfW), local 
authorities and corporate joint committees when they arrive. It also allows us to address critical 
issues such as bus open data usage, reviewing the reference networks and multi-operators ticketing 
schemes as agreed with TfW.  
 
Besides our ongoing relationship and discussions with TfW and Welsh Government, much of the 
evidence base used to inform this document comes from a number of reports undertaken by the 
TAS Partnership for CPT Cymru that reviewed the key issues facing the bus network and its 
development in Wales.1  

 
1 The TAS Partnership Report was commissioned by CPT Cymru during 2020/21 to undertake a review of the 
reform options that could potentially be undertaken in Wales. It consisted of interviews with all the key 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



 
CPT Cymru 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
The following strategic issues to address in delivering a national bus strategy were identified as 
common ground between operators, Welsh Government, local authorities and TfW in the TAS 
Partnership report commissioned by CPT Cymru in 2020 and subsequent partnership working: 

a) An overall vision for the future of buses in Wales 
b) Recovery from Covid-19, reassuring the public that travel by bus is safe 
c) Challenge of turning modal shift aspirations into reality 
d) Failure to tackle congestion, which is key to reducing bus costs and making bus travel more 

attractive 
e) Lack of and uncertainty of public funding, especially for revenue expenditure. 
f) Lack of expertise and capacity at local authority level, and demographic profile of officers 
g) Poor co-ordination with infrastructure and land-use planning 
h) A desire to bring more coherence to the network with easy interchange and common 

ticketing 
i) Network instability and the desire for greater public sector involvement  
j) Transition of the bus fleet to zero emission vehicles 
k) Ensuring a strong pipeline of diverse talent entering the industry 

 
Core Objectives 
In addressing these issues, CPT Cymru believes the following core objectives should form the 
overarching top level aims of a National Bus Strategy for Wales: 

• To improve the passenger experience in order to deliver an increase in patronage on the bus 
network 

• To engender modal shift and contribute to the WG ambition in Llwybr Newydd of moving 
32% of journeys undertaken by sustainable transport to 45% by 2040.  

• To reduce the environmental impact and carbon footprint of the bus fleet 

• To ensure bus companies are financially viable and have the ability to invest in buses, 
facilities and people  

• To support the development of the bus network to help deliver the better functioning of 
Wales’ economy and society.  

• Regional working within the framework of the Wellbeing of Future Generations act with all 
stakeholders  

 
These objectives are broad in nature and should set the tone for actions that will be undertaken by 
all partners in delivering a National Bus Strategy for Wales.  
 
Principles 
In addressing the issues raised and delivering the core objectives of the strategy, CPT Cymru believes 
the following principles should be followed: 

• A presumption for partnership and early engagement on the design and delivery of the 
strategy.  

• A policy environment that instils confidence to invest over the longer term by; 
o Setting out clearly WG’s intended regulatory model 
o Setting out clearly the policies and budgets commitments for the next 5-10 years for 

BSSG, bus priority measures and concessionary fares 

 
stakeholders involved in bus policy (Welsh Government, Operators, Local Authorities etc) and sought to bring 
together shared issues and concerns and develop potential solutions to those. The report also set out the 
various pros and cons for different regulatory models and undertook a full costing of a proposed franchise 
model for Wales.  

Tudalen y pecyn 44



 
CPT Cymru 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

o Delivering a clear policy statement on the transition to lower emission vehicles and 
the policy mechanisms and funding schemes to achieve it 

• Governance that encourages transparency and co-delivery between the public and private 
sector with clear roles for Transport for Wales, regional transport authorities and local 
authorities 

• A recognition of the different needs of local bus markets across Wales, with flexibility to 
adopt the right framework for the needs of local customers and communities 

• An approach that fosters respect and trust from all parties where risks are openly discussed, 
and parties decide how to deal with them 

 
By working this way, a strong partnership can be developed between operators and the public sector 
that focuses on modal shift and patronage growth through delivering better services for passengers 
and non-users alike.  
 
Key Deliverables 
In order to deliver the core objectives, the strategy should focus on the following key deliverables: 

• A vision for the complementary role between rail and bus services, including better 
integration. 

• Welsh Government Ministers to champion bus as a mode of travel.  

• Capital funding for the reallocation of road space and intelligent systems to give buses 
priority, including traffic signal measures. This would tackle congestion, improve journey 
times and reduce costs on operators.  

• Better integration of services and ticketing, including with rail (but not to the detriment of 
vast majority of bus passenger who do not interchange) through the development of multi-
operator or multi-modal ticketing schemes 

• Open data on routes, fares and service performance 

• Network planning that allows for investment in more intensive services on key corridors, 
including higher frequencies enabled by lower congestion and better journey times 

• Supporting operators to maintain or lower fares including consideration of flat fares and 
price caps where appropriate with revenue support 

• A Welsh Green Bus Fund developed with operators to drive increased investment in zero 
emission buses, including ongoing revenue support.  

• Greater investment in RTI and clear information for passengers at stops and on bus.  

• A greater role for passenger voice in the policy process 

• Consideration of how to support socially necessary transport such as Fflecsi (DRT), 
community transport schemes and Bus Rapid Transport. 

• Integrated transportation and land use planning with a presumption in favour of public 
transport 

 
The National Bus Strategy will need to identify key deliverables, but it should be recognised that 
these will be delivered locally or regionally by partners including operators, CJCs, local authorities 
and Transport for Wales. In achieving this, there is a clear need for reporting lines and rationalisation 
at a regional level. 
 
What needs to happen to deliver the strategy’s aims: 
CPT Cymru believes three key changes are required in order to deliver on the core objectives 
highlighted above and transform the bus network in Wales. They are; setting out the operating 
model, creating a long-term regional footprint and providing clarity on future funding streams.  
 
The three changes highlighted above will help create a supportive policy environment for Wales’ bus 
network. However, passenger transport does not exist in a vacuum. As such, there is also a section 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



 
CPT Cymru 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

on tools that could be undertaken to discourage car use. Our own modelling suggests that whilst bus 
positive measures can have a significant impact on bus patronage, deterring private car use can be 
significantly more effective. Indeed, this is a key part of the story around growth elsewhere in the UK 
such as in London following the congestion charge or Nottingham with its Workplace Parking Levy.   
 
1 Operating Model 
There has been much confusion over the future of Wales’ regulatory framework for the bus network 
in Wales, owing to the postponement of the previous Bus Services (Wales) Bill due to Covid-19. The 
original bill included a number of approaches that could be adopted by local transport authorities, 
including greater municipal ownership, a Welsh Partnership model similar to the Enhanced 
Partnerships in England and bus franchising.  
 
The National Bus Strategy for Wales needs to articulate clearly what the regulatory model is going to 
be over the longer-term. It should set out what model Welsh Government intends to pursue and the 
timelines and process by which we will get there. A lack of certainty about the future operating 
model is likely to have a chilling effect on investment. The operating model should follow the issues 
that we are trying to address. For our part, we set those out in our core objectives above.  
 
Voluntary Agreements and the Umbrella Partnership Agreement 
CPT Cymru’s preferred model would be to develop voluntary partnerships in the short term. This 
process is effectively already underway through the umbrella partnership agreement (UPA) process 
detailed as part of the BES 2 agreement. The UPAs are expected to last for 5 years and would 
therefore provide a solid foundation upon which to build partnerships.  
 
As our research carried out by the TAS Partnership has highlighted, voluntary partnerships are 
capable of addressing the issues highlighted as needing to be addressed by both operators and the 
public sector, such as; network planning issues, multi-operator ticketing, bus priority measures and 
road space reallocation and decarbonization of the bus fleet.  
 
The advantages of a voluntary approach in the first instance would be the speed at which benefits 
could be delivered for customers, the low levels of legislation and ‘institutional structures’ needed to 
make it operational and the requirement of input from all parties to make it work. For the public 
sector in particular, they would gain input into network, ticketing and fares and partnerships could 
be used as leverage for further investment – which would of course benefit passengers. However, to 
be successful this approach requires local authority ‘buy in’ which will also give them better control 
of their expenditure on a variety of budget lines including My Travel Pass, concessionary travel and 
BSSG.  
 
Regional working, which is discussed in further detail below, creates an opportunity for strong 
voluntary partnership in the short-term. CPT Cymru has supported the formation of Corporate Joint 
Committees and they have the potential to delivery much greater benefits for passengers through 
their scale and additional capacity, particularly when agreeing joint approaches with operators.   
 
In the short-term, the National Bus Strategy should pursue voluntary agreements between 
operators and the public sector through the Umbrella Partnership Agreements set out under BES 
2. 
 
Statutory Partnerships 
The drawback of voluntary partnerships are that they aren’t statutorily binding and therefore cannot 
prevent operators, particularly those operating at standards below those specified in the 
partnership, from not being involved in the scheme.  

Tudalen y pecyn 46



 
CPT Cymru 

 

5 | P a g e  
 

 
For this reason, over time the voluntary partnerships could develop to include a statutory 
underpinning. There are a number of ways that this could be done and it would be important to 
ensure the use of statutory measures is to the benefit of passengers. In the shorter term, more use 
of existing legislative powers such as Quality Partnerships could be developed to underpin 
coordination between local transport authorities and operators as they seek to invest in higher 
standards and to develop the network.  
 
Over time, the voluntary agreements should be supplemented by Statutory Quality Partnerships 
where possible to underpin investment by both operators and the public sector in shared 
objectives.  
 
A Welsh Partnership Model 
The Welsh Government are minded to legislate for a new Bus Services (Wales) Bill which will give 
new powers beyond those currently on the statute book. CPT Cymru believes the Welsh Partnership 
model could be further developed to provide the longer-term statutory underpinning for a genuine 
partnership approach.  
 
This could be done on a similar basis to the Bus Services Improvement Partnerships developed in 
Scotland or Enhanced Partnerships in England. In short, these would: 

- Create a mechanism to coordinate network development issues, multi-operator ticketing 
and fares between the public sector and operators 

- Provide longer-term certainty for all partners around shared goals and objectives 
- Be used to leverage further investment in the bus network and standards 
- Ensure a level playing field for operators by virtue of all operators being involved 
- Would continue to see the involvement of the Traffic Commissioner for Wales in the route 

registration process and would give them a responsibility for assessing whether an operator 
will comply with service standards. 

- Allow the public sector to tender some key routes where there is a lack of coordination 
between operators. 

 
There would however be drawbacks to introducing a partnership scheme of this type. Firstly, it 
would introduce new costs in terms of management, audit and network planning capacity. From an 
operator perspective, such a model could lead to significant changes in the way in which routes are 
planned and developed and a loss of commercial freedom. To be successful, operators have to 
follow customer demand and there is a risk that customer needs would be harder to satisfy as 
accountability shifts towards more public sector accountability in decision making.  
 
Despite this, a Welsh Partnership model developed and implemented with the positive involvement 
of all parties in a longer-term time frame could be successful in addressing the key issues identified 
above, giving greater public sector input whilst providing greater certainty to operators to invest and 
grow their businesses.  
 
In the longer-term, a Welsh Partnership Model could be developed to underpin the partnership 
model with a statutory basis. This could be done on a broader geographical footprint and would 
allow for greater coordination between the public sector and operators.  
 
Franchising 
The other model previously identified in the Bus Services (Wales) Bill was for a full franchising 
model. This would see all routes tendered out by the public sector. In many ways, this would be a 
radical departure from the current regulatory environment.  

Tudalen y pecyn 47



 
CPT Cymru 

 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
There are several franchise models in practice such as the route level approach seen in London, the 
whole network approach as seen in Jersey or even de facto franchises in areas where the 
commercial market doesn’t exist and routes are all effectively tendered such as Shetland and the 
Western Isles.  
 
CPT Cymru does not favour franchising as the preferred approach for a number of reasons. They are 
as follows: 

• Speed of delivering improvements – Setting up a franchising scheme is a lengthy process 
compared to the other models highlighted above and provides little benefit to passengers in 
the short term. For instance, under the Manchester proposals there is a three year period 
during which no investment to improve journey times, services or zero emission buses will 
be undertaken. By comparison, the partnership models undertaken elsewhere in England 
will begin delivery of benefits to passengers by 2022. 

• Risk to SMEs – franchising generally favours larger operators who are better placed to 
compete through a competitive tender process. Wales’ bus market is relatively unique in 
that 25% of all main day services in Wales are provided by SMEs and the proportion is much 
higher in mid and west Wales where the presence of ‘big group’ operators is limited. The 
major risk is that once a smaller operator loses its work in a round of franchising, the 
business closes and is not there to offer competition for contracts next time around. 

• Risk of stranded assets – The market in Wales has developed around operators and their 
depots across a broad geography. There is a risk that an operator, with considerable critical 
mass in one area could lose contracts once tendered and find themselves with ‘stranded 
assets’ that is surplus vehicles or depots that can no longer be used.  

• High costs of operation – Our assessment of a franchising model for Wales undertaken by 
the TAS Partnership suggests moving to a franchising model would cost around £61m more 
per year by year 7 due to increased vehicles costs of moving to a leasing model, increased 
labour costs set out in franchise standards, additional costs from bidding, reporting and 
monitoring franchise contracts and new costs borne by the public sector in planning, 
tendering, managing and auditing the franchise regime. This would equate to £54.22 per 
household per year by year 7. 

• Upfront costs to public sector – additional public sector costs would be required to establish 
the franchise including ticketing equipment, setting up back-office functions, rebranding, 
uniforms, new depots, new fleets, contract monitoring and of course the tendering 
processes themselves. This is estimated as around £5.7m for year 1.  

• Geographical implications of fares policy – Part of the rationale for the introduction of 
franchising is to create Wales-wide or regional fare structures, based around cheaper fares. 
This would be challenging given the broad variation in fares across Wales. Some areas of 
Wales, such as Cardiff and Newport have strongly competitive markets and therefore fares 
are lower, which is not the case where competition is weaker. In harmonising fares, a 
franchise would either have to increase fares in currently cheaper areas to compensate for 
reduction elsewhere, or would have to find new revenue from somewhere else – likely from 
Welsh Government through taxpayers. 

• Revenue Risk – It is unlikely a franchised network would stay as it currently is and there 
would be pressures to reduce competition with rail, reduce frequencies in ‘over-bussed’ 
corridors, increase service provision to lesser served or outlying areas, increase service 
provision on evenings and Sundays. Taken together, these shifts would see more 
unprofitable routes pursued at the expense of currently profitable ones and would therefore 
reduce revenues for the sector as a whole. Franchises can also run the risk of network 
ossification as any changes to the services operated could be challenged by an unsuccessful 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



 
CPT Cymru 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

bidder on the basis that they could provide the revised network at a lower cost than the 
operator which was awarded the original contract.  

 
With the above taken into account, CPT Cymru believes that the ambitions that are shared by 
operators can be better addressed by partnership arrangements that would avoid the challenges 
posed by a dramatic shift to a franchising regime. Furthermore, the additional costs required 
including the estimated £61m per annum by year 7 could be better spent addressing problems in the 
here and now, such as decarbonising the bus fleet, investing in bus priority measures and developing 
socially desirable routes. There should be a requirement to demonstrate a market failure and the 
inability of the market to address shortcomings before progressing down a franchising route. 
 
A franchise model would be a significant and costly departure from the current model of 
regulation. CPT Cymru believes the additional costs it would bring could be better prioritised in 
partnership between the public sector and operators to address shared issues of concern.  
 
Table1: Summary of Objectives and Problems by Regime Type 

Objective Franchising Voluntary / Statutory 
Partnership 

Statutory Welsh 
Partnership Model 

Do Nothing 

Partnership 
Working 

No, as operator provides 
service dictated by 
franchising authority 

Yes (voluntary) No. LA imposes 
network and fares on 
operators, though with 
consultation 

Yes, informal 
arrangements often 
apply 

Regional 
Structures 

Depends how franchise 
is structured, but 
recommended 

Advisable Advisable Advisable for longer 
term funding and 
planning 

Increased 
Funding and 
Status Quo 

Will be needed, 
especially if an increase 
in service provision and 
reduction in fares is 
desired 

Needed as an incentive 
for improving 
infrastructure and 
service provision 

Will be needed if an 
increase in service 
provision and 
reduction in fares is 
desired 

Needed for long term 
stability 

Greater Vision What are the aims of 
franchising? How will it 
deal with changes in 
demographics? Etc. 

What should the criteria 
be to apply for a 
partnership? How will 
they interact? 

What are the aims of 
introducing an EP? 
How will it impact on 
neighbouring LAs? 

Advisable as it links to 
regional structures 
and funding. 

Improve 
Passenger 
Experience 

If the contracts are 
specified correctly and 
there is a willingness to 
improve infrastructure 

Should be the number 
one goal of a 
partnership – high 
quality service provision 
and improvements to 
infrastructure 

Should be the number 
one goal of an EP high 
quality service, set 
fares and 
improvements to 
infrastructure 

Only if each party is 
willing to invest 
without the safety net 
of a partnership 
agreement. Current 
regime has delivered 
many improvements 
already 

Lack of Expertise 
at Local 
Authorities 

Recruiting will increase 
cost of franchising 

Some operator expertise 
can be used but still may 
benefit from 
independent advice 

Recruiting = extra 
cost. Unlikely operator 
expertise can be used; 
may benefit from 
independent advice 

Ideally needs 
resolving to ensure 
long term stability of 
supported network 
and oversight – ‘a 
voice for bus’ 

 
 
2 A Regional Transport Footprint 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 will lead to significant changes to the 
governance of the nation, not least in respect of transport functions. The Act sets out four regional 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



 
CPT Cymru 

 

8 | P a g e  
 

footprints for local authority collaboration through Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs). These CJCs 
will have a statutory duty to exercise functions around economic development, transport and spatial 
planning; all of which it can be argued have a key role on the future of the bus network in Wales.  
 
In February of 2021 the then Minister for Local Government Julie James MS laid the relevant 
regulations to establish the Corporate Joint Committees, which came into effect from 1st April 2021. 
At the same time during her statement to the Senedd the Minister noted that the discharge of 
functions around planning, transport and economic development would commence in 2022 with 
agreement of local authorities.2  
 
Concurrently, accompanying regulations were laid to modify the Transport Act 2000 to recognise the 
existence of the new transport authorities.3 In practice they; 

- Make CJCs the primary policy development actor and require individual LAs to implement 
their policies 

- Ensures that this aligns with the Wales Transport Policy (currently Llwybr Newydd) 
- Make it a duty for CJCs to deliver Regional Transport Plans 

 
Bringing these elements together, the National Bus Strategy should set out clearly where each set of 
actors has responsibility around bus policy. This is particularly important given the level of change in 
governance that is currently ongoing through the creation of CJCs and TfW at the end of the last 
Welsh Parliament term.  
 
CPT Cymru believes the regional bodies should be tasked, through close collaboration with 
operators, with developing the voluntary partnerships in the first instance. This would take place as 
a core element of the Regional Transport Plans. Over time, and when the regulatory model evolves 
they would also be the bodies responsible for the statutory underpinning of the partnership model, 
be that through voluntary partnerships or a newly legislated Welsh Partnership model.  
 
CPT Cymru believes the new CJCs should be given responsibility for driving the partnership model 
between operators and the public sector in their regions. Over time, this should include the use of 
any statutory measures created by a Bus Services Bill.  
 
CPT Cymru also believes there is an opportunity for Welsh Government to use its legislative process 
to introduce a clear target process for the new CJCs around modal shift. For instance, the UK 
Government’s strategy Bus Back Better sets out targets for local authorities to increase bus 
patronage and to report on these at six monthly intervals.  
 
Welsh Government could go further with a duty on CJCs to set targets for modal shift and bus 
patronage increases and report on them regularly within the context of the Welsh Transport 
Strategy Llwybr Newydd. This could be accompanied by a delivery plan developed by Welsh 
Government setting out the key steps and measures it proposes to implement to achieve its modal 
shift ambitions for Wales. Doing so would confirm Wales as the innovator on bus policy, ahead of 
the other nations of the UK. 
 

 
2Senedd. 2021. Debate on the Introduction of CJC secondary legislation [Online]. Available at: 
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/11185#A65374 (accessed 9the August 2021) 
3 Welsh Government .2021. Explanatory Memorandum to the Corporate Joint Committees (Transport 
Functions) (Wales) Regulations 2021 [Online]. Available at: https://senedd.wales/media/ovghik1s/sub-
ld14142-em-e.pdf (accessed 9th August 2021) 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/11185#A65374
https://senedd.wales/media/ovghik1s/sub-ld14142-em-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/ovghik1s/sub-ld14142-em-e.pdf


 
CPT Cymru 

 

9 | P a g e  
 

Given the other functions of the CJCs relate to land use planning and economic development, the 
use of statutory targets could ensure modal shift becomes a core aspect across all aspect of a CJC’s 
work. This could include spatial planning that encourages bus priority measures.  
 
The CJCs should be subject to targets for modal shift, bus journey times and their variability and 
bus patronage growth and should report on these regularly to Welsh Government and the Senedd. 
This should be accompanied by a Welsh Government modal shift delivery plan setting out key 
actions and milestones.  
 
The other development happening in parallel is the increasing role of Transport for Wales. Whilst 
TfW initially focused on the rail franchise it has slowly been developing its capacity for implementing 
Welsh Government’s priorities around the bus network. The Welsh Labour manifesto Moving Wales 
Forward committed to giving new powers to Transport for Wales to allow for the integration of 
modes.  
 
TfW’s role in relation to bus should be made clear going forward under the new strategy. CPT Cymru 
believes it should focus on helping to administrate key aspects of delivery and helping to drive 
consistency between the local authorities and four regional authorities created by the CJCs. This 
should allow for lower compliance costs and duplications, particularly for operators working across 
county boundaries.  
 
TfW’s role in relation to the bus network should be clarified. It should focus on reforming the 
administrative impacts on bus operation, improving operational efficiency and ensuring 
consistency across the regions including promoting greater integration with other modes of 
transport (e.g. rail), with a view to lowering the administrative burden of compliance.  
 
3 Longer-term Funding Horizon 
The final element needed to help the delivery of the core objectives would be a much longer-term 
funding horizon. There are a number of funding streams that support the bus network in Wales. 
Some are targeted at the supply of services and others subsidise passenger fares for key groups such 
as the elderly.  
 
BSSG 
Before the pandemic, the Welsh Government’s direct support for the bus network was largely focused 
on the Bus Services Support Grant (BSSG). BSSG helps to keep fares down by helping operators with 
costs. It is paid per live bus kilometre operated and has been frozen at £25m since its inception in 
2013/14 – with the consequence of a real terms reduction over that time. Indeed, in 2011/12 the 
predecessor for BSSG was £32m, highlighting a longer-term decline in direct funding.4 Despite this, 
data from the Department for Transport suggests that costs have risen 20p per mile between 2012/13 
and 2019/20, going from 273p per mile to 293p.5 
 
As the main direct subsidy to the bus network BSSG has a key role to play in keeping costs down, 
increasing the viability of routes and encouraging longer-term stability. Its slow decrease in real terms 
over the last decade will have put further pressure on fares, which in turn puts further pressure on 
passenger demand.  

 
4 Welsh Government. 2020. Bus Services (Wales) Bill [Online]. Available at: 
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/pri-ld13090-em/pri-ld13090-em%20-e.pdf (accessed 19th March 
2021). 
5 Department for Transport. 2020. Bus Statistics: Operating cost per vehicle mile on local bus services [Online]. 
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/bus04-costs-fares-and-revenue (accessed 
30th July 2021). 

Tudalen y pecyn 51

https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/pri-ld13090-em/pri-ld13090-em%20-e.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/bus04-costs-fares-and-revenue


 
CPT Cymru 

 

10 | P a g e  
 

 
The National Bus Strategy for Wales should make a clear statement around what BSSG is for and how 
it can be increased in the future to help further support the bus network. At a minimum, this should 
start with increasing it in line with inflation to help manage costs. More ambitious reform could see it 
enhanced with a top-up to reward investment in ultra-low emission vehicles which has taken place in 
Scotland through their Bus Services Operator Grant: low Emission Vehicle (LEV) incentive payments 
scheme and more recently in England through the decarbonisation strategy6. Additionally, 
consideration could be given on how to capture rurality in the system accepting that this is often a 
challenging area to define.  
 
BSSG should be increased in line with inflation in the first instance. In the longer-term it should be 
reviewed to include a top-up to help with the transition towards zero emission vehicles.  
 
Concessionary Fares 
Welsh Government also supports passengers through its concessionary fares schemes which include 
those with a specified disability, those over 60 and younger passengers through its MyTravelpass 
scheme. This costs around £70m per year at present from both Welsh and local governments and 
contributes towards the provision of free or discounted travel for these groups.  
 
Whilst the investment in concessionary fares is significant, it is important to note that it is not a direct 
subsidy to operators and therefore does not have a direct bearing on the supply-side of the network. 
Under this model, operators continue to assess routes on their commercial viability and influence on 
this is brought to bear by passenger demand rather than decisions from either the operator or the 
public sector.  
 
Furthermore, the concessionary fares scheme operates on a “no better and no worse off” basis. In 
practice, this means that operators are reimbursed at a rate of roughly two thirds of the full price of a 
ticket. The longer-term implications of this lower reimbursement rate (in a post-Covid situation) on 
fare paying passengers are not clear. It could for instance present an upward pressure on fares for 
those passengers not able to access the concessionary fares scheme, which would have implications 
for passenger demand in those demographics.  
 
Llwybr Newydd commits to a review of the mandatory and voluntary concessionary fares scheme. A 
consultation was undertaken on changing the age of qualification to match the pension age in 20177.  
 
The National Bus Strategy for Wales should set out clearly what the terms of any concessionary 
fares review are and its overall objectives with a view to providing clarity on the funding situation 
over the longer term.  
 
School Transport 
The other main source of funding for the network as a whole relates to the provision of school 
transport under the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008. This makes certain types of school 
transport a statutory duty for local authorities. In practice, this is delivered either through dedicated 
home-to-school transport via coach operators or through the provision of registered routes on the 

 
6 Scottish Government. 2021. Bus Services Operators Grant [Online]. Available at: 
https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/bus-services-operators-grant/ (accessed 9th August 
2021).  
7 Welsh Government. 2017. Consultation: Mandatory Concessionary Fares Scheme in Wales [Online] Available 
at: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-02/mandatory_concessionary_fares_en.pdf 
(accessed 9th August 2021). 

Tudalen y pecyn 52

https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/bus-services-operators-grant/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2018-02/mandatory_concessionary_fares_en.pdf


 
CPT Cymru 

 

11 | P a g e  
 

public bus network. Whilst the objective of this funding is not to develop the bus network, it does have 
an impact on the provision of routes from which other passengers can benefit.  
 
Bus Priority Measures 
The Welsh Labour Manifesto Moving Wales Forward committed to: “Invest in bus services and 
complete major new bus infrastructure projects, including reallocating road space to support 
dedicated bus lanes and new rapid transit routes that make bus travel easier.” This is a very welcome 
commitment and could be encapsulated in the National Bus Strategy for Wales through a dedicated 
funding stream for bus priority measures.  
 
Such a fund could be part of the Regional Transport Plan process and could form the key contribution 
from the new CJCs to the voluntary partnership approach in the first instance. Scotland provides a 
useful example. Through its Bus Partnership Fund the Scottish Government is investing approximately 
£500m to introduce bus priority measures that are identified through partnership schemes 
underpinned by the Transport (Scotland) Act 20198. 
 
Similarly, the recently announced National Bus Strategy for England gives a strong indication of how 
central government can set expectations of local government in this regard. In it, the UK Government 
says: 

“Just as important as new operating models, are other measures to drive quality and effciency. 
We want to create a virtuous circle: increasing usage, but also reducing operating costs so 
better services can be sustained without permanently higher subsidy. In cities and other 
congested places, the key intervention will be significantly more ambitious bus priority 
schemes, making services faster, more reliable, more attractive to passengers and cheaper to 
run. To benefit from the funding in this strategy, LTAs in such places will be expected to 
implement ambitious bus priority schemes and draw up ambitious Bus Service Improvement 
Plans.”9 

 
There is a need for operators to be able to run services efficiently, without the need for additional 
vehicles and drivers to deliver a specified frequency in order to account for delays and variability 
occasioned by traffic congestion. This not only provides a quicker and more attractive service for 
passengers, but opens the door for operator investment in fleet replacement in a capital efficient 
manner. The business case for such a basic ‘maintenance’ of fleet replacement is an essential pre-
requisite for any investment in ‘greening’ the fleet with zero emission buses, even where financial 
assistance is available to cover the capital and operating cost differentials.  
 
It is also important that we understand the impact of road space reallocation has in relation to active 
travel. A step change in the planning and funding processes will need to occur if we are to ensure road 
space reallocation to active travel or to bus services does not come at the expense of the other mode. 
 
Dedicated funding for Bus Priority Measures should be created to help speed up bus journeys 
through, for example, road space reallocation, intelligent transport systems, prioritisation for bus 
at junctions and bus rapid transport schemes. This could be used as a key element of the partnership 
approach   
 
Zero Emission Bus Funding 

 
8 Scottish Government. 2020. £500m for Bus Priority Infrastructure [Online]. Available at:  
https://www.transport.gov.scot/news/500-million-for-bus-priority-infrastructure/ (accessed 9th August 2021). 
9 Department for Transport. 2021. Bus Back Better [Online]. Available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/
DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf (accessed 9th August 2021). P.13 

Tudalen y pecyn 53

https://www.transport.gov.scot/news/500-million-for-bus-priority-infrastructure/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf


 
CPT Cymru 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

One part of the landscape that exists elsewhere in the UK but not in Wales is funding for ultra-low or 
zero emission buses. This has been a feature of the approach in Scotland and England for some time 
and has led to a considerable number of operators being able to purchase electric or hydrogen fuel 
cell vehicles and to decarbonise the fleet.  
 
In Scotland, the previous Scottish Ultra-Low Emission Bus Scheme (SULEBS) took over from the 
Scottish Green Bus Fund and provided support for the purchase of new ultra-low emission buses up 
to a maximum 75% of the differential costs against diesel buses, depending on their zero emission 
running capability. Support is also available for the infrastructure for this technology of up to a 
maximum 75% of the capital cost and a per km payment in lieu of lost BSOG10  
 
Over the last round £40m was allocated to the fund leading to the purchase of 215 ultra-low emission 
vehicles with investment from both the Scottish Government and operators. This is paired with the 
previously mentioned BSOG supplement to create a strong incentive towards investment in ultra-low 
or zero-emission emission vehicles.  
 
More recently, the Scottish Government has introduced its ScotZEB scheme adding £50m to the first 
phase, continuing their longstanding commitment to fleet decarbonisation.11   
 
In England, the recently announced Zero-Emission Bus Regional Scheme (ZEBRA)12. The ZEBRA scheme 
is worth £120m in its first round and is aimed at local authorities who will bid for funding as part of 
their proposals under the national bus strategy for England Bus Back Better. This has now been 
augmented by a payment in lieu of lost BSOG under the UK transport decarbonisation plan in July.13 
 
Furthermore, the ULEB scheme in England allowed for 100% use of funding on bus body/chassis with 
power companies providing the infrastructure under a least arrangement. This allowed a degree of 
flexibility in the use of the funding and introduced multiple partners into the solution of procuring EVs.  
 
The National Bus Strategy for Wales needs to develop a 10 year plan, including a long-term funding 
programme to avoid the ‘feast and famine’ approach seen in other nations, to help provide confidence 
for operators to invest in new vehicles. This should start with an examination of the existing policy, 
which is for ‘zero tailpipe emissions by 2028’. On current trends, it is very unlikely that this will take 
place without additional investment. Wales is also operating in a broader competitive environment 
which means there is a real risk of investment from cross-border operators in vehicles elsewhere in 
the UK where the incentives are stronger.  
 
To address this, CPT Cymru has previously called for a Welsh Green Bus Fund that would set up a grant 
funding mechanism that encourages and de-risks investment in zero-emission vehicles by operators. 

 
10Scottish Government. Scottish Ultra-Low Emission Bus Scheme [Online]. Available at: 
https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/scottish-ultra-low-emission-bus-scheme/ (accessed 
9th August 2021).  
11Sustainable Bus. 2021. ScotZEB scheme launched: £50 million for e-buses in Scotland in 2021 [Online]. 
Available at: 
 https://www.sustainable-bus.com/electric-bus/scotzeb-scheme-scotland-electric-buses/ (accessed 9th August 
2021). 
12 Department for Transport. 2021. Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) scheme [Online]. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-zero-emission-bus-funding (accessed 9th August 
2021). 
13 UK Government. 2021. Decarbonising Transport: A Better, Greener Britain [Online]. Available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009448
/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf (accessed 9th August 2021)/ 

Tudalen y pecyn 54

https://www.transport.gov.scot/public-transport/buses/scottish-ultra-low-emission-bus-scheme/
https://www.sustainable-bus.com/electric-bus/scotzeb-scheme-scotland-electric-buses/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-zero-emission-bus-funding
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf


 
CPT Cymru 

 

13 | P a g e  
 

 
The precise model for the Green Bus Fund should be explored by a working group. It could for instance 
see the development of a financial model with partners such as the Development Bank of Wales in 
order to leverage other forms of public and private finance. Power companies are also a key partner 
in this regard and should be involved in the working group. Furthermore, consideration could be given 
to the economic and social impact of any procurement exercise to ensure maximum economic benefit 
for Wales of the Green Bus Fund model.  
 
In the first instance, CPT Cymru believes there should be a working group between the Welsh 
Government, LTAs and bus operators to develop a bus decarbonisation plan  2028. This would set a 
clear timeframe for transition that would ideally align with other parts of the UK. Working back 
from this, a Welsh Green Bus Fund should be established with a long-term funding horizon in order 
to provide the financial incentives necessary to encourage operator investment.  
 
Providing a longer-term approach 
Including funding for TrawsCymru, Welsh Government’s total revenue budget for direct bus support 
to operators in Wales was £32m in 2019.14 This compares to an equivalent of £171m for Transport for 
Wales’ rail operation, supporting 31m rail journeys.15 As such, financial support per passenger is 
roughly 30p for bus and £5.51 for rail.  
 
The funding environment should help operators to keep fares down, develop the network and drive 
innovation. With 76% of public transport journeys taken by bus, the number of bus journeys made is 
significantly higher than that of other public transport modes.16 As such, meaningful investment and 
attention must now be given to the nation’s best used mode of sustainable transport.  
 
Bringing all the funding streams together as part of a National Bus Strategy and providing a longer-
term time horizon could encourage a step change in bus services in Wales. Access to new forms of 
funding such as a Welsh Green Bus Fund and Bus Priority Measures could be tied into the partnership 
approach bringing together the commercial innovation provided by operators and the input of the 
public sector through the regional bodies.  
 
Funding should be set out over a longer-term time horizon and should be accessed by operators and 
the public sector through the partnership model, as established through BES 2 and the umbrella 
partnership agreements 
 
Discouraging Car Use 
In order to achieve Welsh Government’s ambition of modal shift from 32% of journey made by 
sustainable transport to 45% by 2040 a significant change in the transport landscape will be 
required. As mentioned previously, measures to create a positive policy environment for bus travel 
are a key positive step towards this. However, bus as a mode of travel does not operate in isolation.  
 
As the graph from 2014 below shows, the higher rates of car ownership within an area the lower bus 
ridership tends to be: 

 
14 Welsh Government 2019. Final Budget 2019 to 2020 [Online]. Available at: https://gov.wales/final-budget-
2019-2020 (accessed 19th March 2021) 
15 StatsWales. 2021. Rail passenger journeys to, from or within Wales and total journeys in Great Britain by 
year [Online]. Available at: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/rail/rail-
transport/railpassengerjourneystofromwithinwalesandtotaljourneysingb-by-year (accessed 19th March 2021) 
16 Welsh Government. 2020. Llwybr Newydd: Supporting Information [online]. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-11/supporting-information-transport-data-and-
trends.pdf (17th August 2021) 

Tudalen y pecyn 55

https://gov.wales/final-budget-2019-2020
https://gov.wales/final-budget-2019-2020
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/rail/rail-transport/railpassengerjourneystofromwithinwalesandtotaljourneysingb-by-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/rail/rail-transport/railpassengerjourneystofromwithinwalesandtotaljourneysingb-by-year
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-11/supporting-information-transport-data-and-trends.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-11/supporting-information-transport-data-and-trends.pdf


 
CPT Cymru 

 

14 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
The key reason for this is that passengers have a number of alternatives available to them and they 
are able to ‘price’ the cost both financially and in terms of other factors such as time and reliability 
so as to determine which mode to use. This is called the ‘generalised costs of travel’. For a car, 
journey times are typically shorter, there are no waiting times and the quality of the vehicle is 
determined by you as the car owner. The actual cost of the journey is also influenced by issues such 
as parking charges, congestion and fuel costs vis-à-vis other alternatives.  
 
The same calculation is made by bus users however other factors are included such as time waiting 
for the bus, time spent at a bus station the process of acquiring information about the bus. 
Measures such as bus lanes, or newer vehicles can help to reduce the ‘generalised cost’ from a bus 
perspective in addressing these additional aspects. However, bus as a mode of travel will always 
struggle while the costs of motoring are maintained low.  
 
That is why some of the most successful schemes to encourage bus use have taken place in tandem 
with measures to reduce car dependency. For instance, London’s congestion charge was 
undoubtedly a driver towards an increase in patronage across the city. Similarly, Nottingham’s 
workplace parking levy has served as a major disincentive towards car use whilst bolstering public 
sector incomes to be reinvested in sustainable transport schemes.  
 
To give a concrete example, CPT modelling undertaken by 2FM has shown that reducing fares by 
10%, introducing bus priority measures to reduce journey times by 10% and improving the waiting 
environment at bus stops and introducing real time information would lead to an estimated mode 
shift of 2.4%, which would lead to 17% more passenger on buses. This would clearly be a positive 
outcome for bus as a mode of transport17. 
 

 
17 Research currently being undertaken for CPT by 2FM Limited. Details available on request. 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



 
CPT Cymru 

 

15 | P a g e  
 

However, increasing the cost of motoring by £5 per trip (modelled as £10 per day) would lead to a 
reduction in car mode share from 86% to 74.9%, with the balance shifting to bus. This would in 
effect lead to an increase in bus travel of 79% on the baseline assumption.  
 
Whilst this example is from a hypothetical model, it shows that if we are serious about mode shift 
then both a push and a pull factor need to be considered. This is particularly critical as we transition 
from ICE to EV cars. The temptation will be to see EVs as a key part of the environmental challenge 
of transport, however a like-for-like transition to EVs will not lead to modal shift and will not reduce 
levels of congestion.  
 
This means the Welsh Government must take action to introduce positive measures that would 
discourage car use. These could be designed to be income generating further alleviating the financial 
challenges facing the public sector in improving public transport.  
 
For our part, we believe the following should be actively considered: 

• Congestion charging in key urban centres 

• Road user charging along key corridors where there are significant amounts of congestion 

• A workplace parking levy in towns and city centres  

• local authorities to avoid measures such as free parking and to price their maintained car 
parks with modal shift in mind 

• Placing an emphasis on efficient highways by instituting ‘red routes’ as happens in London 
on key arterial routes 

• Strong enforcement of bus lane and parking violations that impact on bus punctuality.  
 
All of the above could potentially be revenue raising and the proceeds of any revenue could be 
ringfenced for public transport investment, particularly through any funding set up to deliver 
partnerships around road space reallocation and fleet decarbonisation.  
 
Conclusions and Next Steps 
As the above identifies, there will be a considerable amount of work needed to provide a step-
change in Wales’ bus network. CPT Cymru and its members are ready to engage positively with 
Welsh Government, Transport for Wales and local authorities to make these changes a reality for 
Wales. As such, we look forward to the details of the bus strategy being developed.  
 
In terms of timeframes, it is our hope that the strategy released later this year will be the starting 
gun for a new period of partnership on bus services in Wales. Whilst the legislation is likely to come 
later in 2022, CPT Cymru and its members is keen to begin this conversation now so that we can 
quickly deliver better services for passenger in Wales.  

Tudalen y pecyn 57



1 

10 September 2021 

Summary of the consultation 

1. The Welsh Parliament’s Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee is
seeking views on the priorities it should set itself for the Sixth Senedd. In particular, the
Committee is interested in:

a. hearing views on the priorities for the Minister and Deputy Minister for Climate
Change “for the next 12-18 months”;

b. hearing about any other subject that should be prioritised over the next 12-18
months.

2. To inform our response to this consultation, we have taken note of the letter dated 30
July 2021 from Julie James (Minister) and Lee Waters (Deputy Minister) which places
“collective climate action” at its heart and where the following remarks are made:

We recently published Llwybr Newydd – The Wales Transport Strategy (WTS) 2021 that sets out
the long-term vision for an accessible, sustainable and efficient transport system. It also has
responsibility for transport decarbonisation including electric vehicles, air quality and road user
charging; place making including road safety, road space reallocation and active travel and Blue
Badge scheme…

…The Welsh Government has a substantive role in ensuring that the transport network supports a 
sustainable system of distributing goods in Wales. The Wales Transport Strategy commits 
towards a freight and logistics delivery plan to support this role. 

General comments 

3. The RHA thanks the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee for the
opportunity to comment on its priorities. Last month’s publication of the Sixth
Assessment Report by the UN’s Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)
once again highlighted the need for all of us to act quickly to address the challenges
posed by climate change. As we collectively consider our responses, the question the
RHA has put at the centre of its thinking is not “what” nor “why”, but “how”.1

4. We support the aim to decarbonise heavy goods vehicles. However, based on our
assessment of Welsh Government plans, we have reservations on how current policy
thinking will facilitate that outcome. We comment that, of the responsibilities listed by the

1 See: https://www.rha.uk.net/news/policy-campaigning/policy-campaigning-documents/detail/rha-vision-for-
decarbonising-road-freight 

Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth 
Senedd 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith /
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
PR67
Ymateb gan y Gymdeithas Cludo ar y Ffyrdd / Evidence from the Road 
Haulage Association

Tudalen y pecyn 58

Eitem 3



2 

Minister and Deputy Minister in their long-term vision for an “accessible, sustainable, and 
efficient transport system”, the word productivity is absent. We believe this is a 
significant oversight and, to ensure a green Welsh economy thrives, the Committee 
should ensure that productivity is prioritised to inform future transport decisions. 

5. On 25 June 2021, we wrote to the Deputy Minister to express our concern over the
Welsh Government’s decision on climate change grounds to “freeze” all new road
building projects in Wales.2 We believe this decision is misjudged on economic, social
and climate change grounds.

6. Roads are a good thing. They facilitate access to works for people, encourage
businesses to thrive and give people and businesses opportunities they would not
otherwise have. Failing to improve roads to reduce congestion increases carbon
emissions, increases air quality impacts, impedes connectivity within and beyond Wales,
and makes the Welsh economy less productive and competitive. Inadequate
infrastructure chokes off jobs and business investment opportunities.

7. When HGVs account for 4.3% of overall UK greenhouse gases,3 we look to the
Committee and Ministers for a proportionate and coherent policy response that facilitates
productivity and empowers HGV operators to play their full part. We do not see
addressing climate change and investment in roads as incompatible and, when road-
based operators are working to achieve Net Zero targets, regard an anti-road approach
as out-of-date. Supported by the on-going investment by our sector in low carbon / no
carbon vehicles, we strongly believe that policies which nurture productivity will raise
standards of living and allow Welsh businesses to flourish.

UK-level measures to decarbonise commercial vehicles 

8. We also ask that the Committee takes account of our sector’s engagement in measures
at a UK-level to decarbonise the commercial vehicle fleet. Recently, the UK Government
concluded a consultation4 on when to end the sale of new non-zero emission HGVs. This
brought into sharp focus the practical considerations of “how” we decarbonise the HGV
fleet sustainably.

9. We comment that, whilst we share the ambition to decarbonise at pace and strongly
support technological developments to deliver it, sustainable implementation is not yet
apparent. The ramifications arising from the apparently simple question posed by the UK
Government’s consultation of “when” are highly complex, and we observe that

2 See: https://www.rha.uk.net/news/policy-campaigning/policy-campaigning-documents/detail/rha-writes-to-lee-
waters-ms-about-cancelled-road-investment-in-wales 

3 This is based on figures contained in Department for Transport, Consultation on when to phase out the sale of 
new, non-zero emission heavy goods vehicles, July 2021, p5 which states that transport accounts for 27% of UK 
GHG emissions and HGVs for 16% of transport emissions, which equates to HGVs accounting for 4.3% of UK 
GHG emissions. 

4 See: Department for Transport, Consultation on when to phase out the sale of new, non-zero emission heavy 
goods vehicles, July 2021. Here, DfT sought views on the feasibility of a phase-out date of 2035 for goods 
vehicles with a gross vehicle weight (GVW) from 3.5 tonnes up to and including 26 tonnes, and 2040 for vehicles 
greater than 26 tonnes GVW. 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



3 

policymakers currently overlook how lifecycle emissions are recognised in policy and 
have an insufficient grasp of the diverse use-cases employed by HGV operators.5 

10. In our response to the UK Government, we advised that DfT adjust their current plans6

as they do not adequately address the barriers-to-entry that currently impede the
adoption of zero tailpipe emission HGVs. To inform the development of policy, we further
recommended that DfT fully scope the full complexity of HGV use-case needs which we
believe is essential for the following reasons:

 for net zero to succeed, all types of operation and HGV use must be
accommodated so that all parts of the economy and all types of supply chain are
catered for;

 considerable market uncertainty exists with operators currently having insufficient
information available to make informed choices. This must be managed in an agile
way, with policymakers engaging in a series of conversations with our sector to
navigate flexibly the many issues that lie ahead. We particularly flag that the policy
framework must give clear guidance on how unavoidable emissions are offset;

 the whole vehicle lifecycle must be central to decision making so that all owners
of any vehicle bought before the new vehicle bans are introduced are able to benefit
from its utility and a full known economic lifespan. Central to this is sustaining asset
values so that all businesses, including our vital SME sector, have the standard
financial tools intrinsic to any business available to manage natural vehicle
replacement cycles.

11. We have also asked ministers to provide clear leadership on lifecycle emissions. A
narrow focus on “zero emission” HGVs, which we re-term as “zero tailpipe emission”
HGVs, disregards solutions to decarbonise transport elsewhere in the supply chain and
distorts accountability. We look to policymakers to provide coherent holistic solutions that
also account for carbon use in the manufacture, powering and recycling of vehicles.

12. With a full understanding of use-case needs and ensuring there are operationally
practical mitigations in place, we strongly believe that a vehicle standards approach
supported by real-world trials will allow the sustainable decarbonisation of HGVs.

13. Part of that will come from infrastructure investment by government, part from providing
the right market signals to inform vehicle operators. Good practice already exists. We
commend the development of the Euro VI/6 standard, introduced from 2013, as a model
for policymakers to follow. In this instance, a well-designed standard led by business in a

5 It is an oversimplification to assume, as DfT have done, that “HGVs conventionally fall into two distinct 
categories in the UK” where “vehicles of 26 tonnes and under run around 150 kilometres on an average day, 
while heavier vehicles run just under 400 kilometres on an average day”. This analysis, founded on a telematics 
data sample, is based only on the part of the supply chain that uses telematics data, has an urban bias and 
overlooks, for example, rural/remote locations with limited infrastructure, SME operators that use 2 and 3 axle 
rigid vehicles operating at longer distances, abnormal loads or refrigerated vehicles and trailers. 

6 Based on our initial assessment, our advice to the UK Government is the timetable for stopping the sale of new 
diesel HGVs should be determined by the following weight categories and dates: from 2035, 18 tonnes and 
below; from 2040, 32 tonnes and below; from 2045, over 32 tonnes. Our assessment however comes with a 
significant “health warning” as it assumes the satisfactory resolution of future cost, operational and supply 
barriers, both known and unknown, to meet all use-cases. Our detailed response can be found here: 
https://www.rha.uk.net/news/policy-campaigning/consultation-responses/detail/rha-responds-to-dft-sale-of-new-
diesel-lorry-ban-consultation 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



4 

stable regulatory environment required vehicle manufacturers to create new technology 
which generated significant and sustainable reductions in NOx air pollution across the 
diversity of use-cases without the need to subsidise vehicle purchases.7 

Final comments 

14. Hauliers are willing to invest in Net Zero and, to overcome the challenges and
complexities that lie ahead, the RHA is guided by sustainability values which recognise
that economic needs must be nurtured alongside environmental and social needs. The
low margin, highly competitive nature of our sector means that we operate dynamically
and sensitively to consumer demand that is attuned to the need for effective
environmental stewardship.

15. As economic enablers, hauliers drive productivity and invest in environmental well-being.
We strongly welcome innovations to develop low carbon and zero emission vehicle
technologies. We will also continue promoting ways to improve efficiencies and minimise
emissions from conventional technology, which includes effective driver training, efficient
fuel use, optimal load utilisation and investing in streamlined vehicles.

16. We comment however that there are substantial risks to the realisation of climate change
targets and, for a successful transition away from diesel to occur, the right policy
frameworks must be in place. At the time of writing, we note media reports that UK
Government ministers8 are guided by a desire9 to send signals to the market that
develops the desired technology and, crucially, allows the private sector through natural
replacement cycles to carry the heavy lifting10 required to phase the technology in.

17. If so, the RHA endorses this approach. It is consistent with our position that market-
driven solutions are best-placed to achieve commercial vehicle decarbonisation.
However, for this to work, asset values must be sustained so that all businesses,
including SMEs, have the standard financial tools intrinsic to any business available to
manage natural vehicle replacement cycles.

Background about the RHA 

18. The RHA is the leading trade association representing over 8,000 road haulage and
distribution companies across the UK, 85% of whom are small and medium-sized
enterprises (SMEs). Our members operate around 250,000 HGVs (half of the UK fleet)
out of 10,000 operating centres, and range from a single-truck company to those with
thousands of vehicles.

19. These road transport companies provide the people and businesses of the UK with the
goods upon which we all depend - from food and clothing through to medicines, car parts

7 We estimate that, due to the £1.9bn investment by hauliers in the latest cleanest lorries, NOx pollution from 
HGVs has fallen by over 60% since 2013. With no further policy intervention, it would fall by 85% from 2013 
levels by 2025. 
8 See: https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/ministers-backtrack-over-gas-boiler-ban-5ct59jxrp 
9 See: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/politics/2021/08/21/heat-pumps-worse-heating-homes-gas-boilers-admits-

energy-secretary/ 
10 See: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/politics/2021/08/21/heat-pumps-worse-heating-homes-gas-boilers-admits-

energy-secretary/ 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



5 

and construction material. Without lorries and vans delivering good to businesses and 
consumers, the economic and social wellbeing of the UK would be seriously impacted. 

20. Recently, the RHA has initiated a coach operator membership for those operating non-
scheduled passenger services using vehicles with a capacity of more than 16 seats.

21. We proactively encourage a spirit of entrepreneurialism, compliance, profitability, safety
and social responsibility. We do so through a range of services, such as advice,
representation, and training. We also work alongside policymakers and haulage
companies to identify ways to move freight more efficiently at a lower cost based on our
widespread knowledge and expertise in the area.

22. Our response is set within an overall context where 54,800 SMEs are involved in
haulage and 52% of lorries operate in fleets of less than 20 (source: Traffic
Commissioners - 2016/17). The purchase cost of an HGV starts from £100,000 and its
life span is typically 12 years. However, depending on the application (e.g. mobile
cranes), this can be for much longer (30+ years) and cost considerably more (£200k+).
Due to the high efficiency of logistics, operators typically work on a 2% profit margin
(source: Statistica 2020), meaning any additional costs incurred cannot be absorbed.

10 September 2021 

Chris Ashley  
Head of Policy – Environment & Regulation 
c.ashley@rha.uk.net

Road Haulage Association

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 63

Eitem 5Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 90

Eitem 6 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



1 

9 September 2021 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Response to: Priorities for the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure 

Committee 

The Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) is the largest professional institute for planners in 

Europe, representing some 26,000 spatial planners. RTPI Cymru represents the RTPI in 

Wales, with 1,300 members. The Institute seeks to advance the science and art of planning, 

working for the long-term common good and well-being of current and future generations. 

The RTPI develops and shapes policy affecting the built environment, works to raise 

professional standards and supports members through continuous education, training and 

development. 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the above consultation.  We welcome the 

opportunity to comment on the Committee’s priorities.  

The pandemic has had a significant impact on all our lives and the economy. Whilst there 

are many uncertainties around how we will emerge from the pandemic, it is likely that many 

of the issues which Wales already faced will continue and even be compounded.  

Areas of Wales have traditionally faced complex place-based issues, including a decline in 

economic growth, changes in our high streets, poverty and inequality, the delivery of quality 

housing in the right locations and the resilience of Wales is frequently tested by severe 

weather events. The role of planning is to look to the long term and act in the long-term 

public interest, making a balance between competing interests and setting the framework 

and decisions for a sustainable future. 

Royal Town Planning Institute 
Cymru (RTPI Cymru) 
Studio 107 
Creative Quarter 
8a Morgan Arcade 
Cardiff 
CF10 1AF 
Tel +44 (0)20 7929 8197 
email walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk 
www.rtpi.org.uk/wales 

Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth Senedd 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith / 
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee
PR31
Ymateb gan Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol (RTPI) Cymru / 
Evidence from Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Cymru

Tudalen y pecyn 93

Eitem 7

mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


2 

The planning system sets the context for development and creates the enabling conditions 

for a sustainable and healthy built environment. Planning shapes the environments where 

people work, live, learn and interact.  

Wales has a strong national planning policy framework guided by the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act. There is increasing recognition that the planning system and Wales’ 

sustainable development ambitions are intrinsically linked, and this is recognised in national 

planning policy.  

Planning offers an established and effective process to facilitate a sustainable future for 

Wales. However it needs to be invested in and strengthened to be able to deliver 

expectations. In 2019 the Auditor General concluded that: “Planning Authorities are not 

resilient enough to deliver long term improvements because of their limited capacity.”  The 

RTPI and other stakeholders have long called for the adequate resourcing of the planning 

system in order for it to achieve its full potential in addressing the complex and challenging 

issues it faces.   

Planning services are under particular pressure and scrutiny. Total expenditure on planning 

services have fallen by 50% in Wales since 2008-09. These budget constraints have forced 

LPAs to prioritise meeting statutory obligations around development management over plan-

making. Compounding these budget cuts, LPAs are under pressure to quickly address 

applications and deliver housing targets. The system is sometimes perceived as an 

impediment rather than an enabler of housing development due to the uncertainty and 

complexity of the current development management process.  Like any good public service, 

the planning system requires resources and capacity to deliver outcomes efficiently, 

effectively, and equitably. Financial support to increase the number of public sector planners 

employed, funding for specialist knowledge and investing in efficiency-saving digital 

technologies can help support a stronger, proactive and strategic planning system.  RTPI 

Cymru would support further investigation of actions and interventions, such as the ring 

fencing of planning fee income and full cost recovery models to support the planning service.  

A well-resourced, plan-led, positive planning service can deliver corporate objectives, which, 

if properly encouraged and effectively organised can bring together objectives across 

services and help achieve local and national sustainable development and climate action 

goals.  Local authority corporate management teams provide leadership, vision and priority 

setting for areas, by shaping the strategic operational direction and investment decisions of 

local authorities. The implications of these corporate decisions on new investment, 

infrastructure, development activity, local services and policy delivery are significant, 

particularly at this time. The RTPI believes that making the role of the Chief Planning 

Officers a more prominent and strategic position within local authorities would positively 

influence the outcomes of planning and support good growth and a balanced recovery. 

While we note and support in principle the issues identified in the Minister and Deputy 

Minister’s priorities for the next 12 – 18 months (the Minister and Deputy Minister’s priorities 

for the next 12-18 months), alongside the proper support and resourcing of the planning 

system, the following key issues should also be considered.  We have indicated where an 

adequately resourced planning system can have a positive impact on these priorities:    

Tudalen y pecyn 94

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s116925/Letter%20from%20the%20Minister%20and%20Deputy%20Minister%20for%20Climate%20Change%20on%20the%20Welsh%20Governments%20priorities.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s116925/Letter%20from%20the%20Minister%20and%20Deputy%20Minister%20for%20Climate%20Change%20on%20the%20Welsh%20Governments%20priorities.pdf


3 

 

 

Deliver long-term climate mitigation and resilience actions, including biodiversity 

enhancement.  

The planning system can prevent locking-in inefficient, high-carbon infrastructure that will be 

used for decades. Through stringent climate requirements, the planning system has the 

potential to avoid significant carbon lock-ins from fossil-fuelled infrastructure that make it 

difficult to shift to lower-carbon pathways. This will be critical to supporting the net-zero 

transition. Planning that protects natural environments, safeguarding the landscapes and 

places we will value in the future must be supported. Wales’ environment and its natural 

resources are one of its particular strengths and even economic advantages. 

 

Invest in and seize the opportunities from Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 to 

prioritise the right investment decisions.  

Spatial planning can positively support the economic performance of Wales through 

influencing factors that determine productivity, by defining the future role of key settlements 

and strengthening their interrelationships, by providing enhanced connectivity etc. Future 

Wales – the National Plan 2040 (the National Development Framework (NDF)) is an 

essential new addition to the development plan in Wales and will aid Welsh Government, 

other public agencies and private investors to make strategic investment decisions for 

Wales. Future Wales will play an important role in identifying infrastructure projects at a time 

where there is uncertainty around the future of planned projects, infrastructure finance and 

as Britain leaves the European Union. 

 

Support and use the hierarchy of plans to make long-term decisions, including 

supporting the delivery of SDPs.  

Equally, bringing forward Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) at a regional level will enable 

planning and stakeholders to address the more complex regional spatial issues that cross 

boundaries and may require different responses across Wales. This strong plan framework 

is vital to the balanced recovery of Wales and for long-term decision-making. It is important 

to recognise the spatial distinctiveness of places in developing policy. Future Wales – the 

National Plan 2040, SDPs and Local Development Plans (LDP) can together facilitate an 

integrated approach with other areas of policy, linking decisions on economic development 

with those on housing, climate change, energy generation, transport, and other 

infrastructure, providing a spatial framework for investment at different scales across Wales 

and facilitate joint working and maximise benefits on the ground. Place Plans can also add 

value at the local level for those communities which have them. The policy framework would 

be strengthened by emphasising the importance of these links and the use of the evidence 

that they provide. 

 

Introduce the Infrastructure Consenting Bill  

The regulatory framework to support the change in the infrastructure consenting regime 

needs to be brought forward to provide an effective process for making decisions on large 

infrastructure, providing clarity to support needed infrastructure and balancing this with the 

needs of communities. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



4 

 

Encourage collaborative working to support rural planning 

National planning policies set out in Future Wales, Planning Policy Wales and Technical 

Advice Notes (TANs), as well as Local Development Plans and other local strategies 

address rural related development. Both development planning and the development 

management functions need to be recognised as important tools in addressing health, food 

security, climate change, flooding, energy, landscape enhancement and protection etc, with 

the ability to give consideration to the wider land use and spatial implications of such issues.  

 

Housing: Support and invest in the delivery of quality homes in the right places 

across Wales.  

Without the planning system, Wales is unlikely to meet affordable housing targets. It is 

estimated that an average of 7,500 new homes will need to be built each year to meet 

housing needs, of which 3,500 will need to be affordable homes. To achieve ambitious 

national targets, planners will need to identify where housing, including affordable housing, is 

needed, enforce quality standards, ensure new homes have good access to amenities, 

support community cohesion, and coordinate developer contributions. The planning system 

supports delivering ambitious targets for suitable and affordable housing. Planning can 

support delivery of affordable housing, which may not be delivered through the private 

sector, even where total supply issues are remedied. High quality homes, safe living 

environments and access to opportunities for exercise and recreation enable population 

health. Public Health Wales prioritises environmental and social conditions which affect 

public health. Key planning-related priorities in the Public Health Wales 2018-2030 strategy, 

include creating cleaner air, improving mental health conditions and reducing childhood 

health inequities. Well-planned places, particularly those with access to green infrastructure 

and that enable community cohesion, are important for supporting the mental and physical 

health of residents. Access to greenspace is particularly important for childhood 

development; having high access to greenspace in childhood can reduce risk of developing 

mental health diseases later in life by up to 55%. 

 

Encourage and support inclusive, affordable, sustainable public transport 

“Large parts of Wales are rural in character with 40% of the population living in settlements 

with fewer than 10,000 people.  Commuting patterns are a distinctive feature of our regional 

economies, with significant daily movements of people to their place of work”.  Update to 

Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 (gov.wales) 

 

RTPI Cymru has long called for a “more integrated approach to transport and land use 

planning” in line with the findings of the RTPI Net Zero Carbon Transport research.  It is vital 

that we work to better integrate an inclusive and affordable sustainable public transport 

system if we are to enable more sustainable places, a modal shift, achieve decarbonisation, 

net zero targets and climate action goals. 

 

We have recommended the Welsh Government work closely with the UK Government and 

other devolved nations to support the development of common technical standards and 

practice. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 96

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/research/2020/june/net-zero-transport-the-role-of-spatial-planning%20and-place-based-solutions/


5 

Active Travel: Continue to enable the delivery of active travel.  

The planning system can play a key role in encouraging active travel through identifying new 

opportunities and facilitating infrastructure investment. Active travel is currently impeded by a 

lack of safe and accessible infrastructure with safety factors being reported as a key factor 

for deterring people from cycling. Providing active travel infrastructure requires community 

engagement to identify where active travel is most needed, spatial planning, funding for 

infrastructure and stakeholder coordination. Active travel helps deliver of range of benefits 

including reducing pollution caused by private car usage, provide health benefits from being 

active and reduces congestion with its economic negativity. 

Welsh Language and Identity  

Invest in and roll out a common methodology to carry out linguistic impact assessments. The 

Welsh language is an important part of Wales’ identity, and this is important in placemaking. 

The development of robust policies and mechanisms would enable LPAs take significant 

account of the Welsh language in land use decisions to support Cymraeg 2050. 

Community engagement in plan making  

The promotion of community engagement in plan making at all levels is an important 

strength of planning. Planning can support local neighbourhoods to shape development, 

retain their identity and enable community buy-in to the right form of development in their 

local areas through the planning process. A range of engagement mechanisms to enable as 

many parts of communities to engage in informing policies should be invested in. New 

mechanisms for digital engagement to be used more will facilitate engagement with many 

groups who traditionally do not engage with the planning process, including young people. 

Support capacity-building in public sector planning and bring forward a Bill on 

Planning Law Consolidation.  

Strategic plan-making requires technical skills and a deep understanding of community 

needs and priorities. Prioritising strategic planning includes non-financial actions, such as 

freeing up resources by reducing needlessly burdensome regulations and changing 

performance targets to measure quality instead of speed or efficiency. Recommendations 

from the Law Commission on a consolidation bill for planning should be taken forward. This 

will reduce the burden of the complexity of the current planning legislation contained in 

multiple Acts. 

Support the delivery of vibrant town centres  

Town centres are vital economic, community and social hubs. The closure of non essential 

businesses, as a result of the pandemic, has had a significant impact on high streets and 

town centres. Several major retailers went into administration as income collapsed. Others 

are restructuring and renegotiating leases. However, industry figures show that local corner 

stores and independent grocery stores experienced a 63% boost in trade in the three 

months leading up to 17 May, along with a 75% increase in online grocery sales in the last 

month of this period. It is essential that a town-centre first approach is maintained by taking a 

holistic, plan-led approach to the integration of high-quality homes, including affordable 

homes, a regular and affordable sustainable public transport system and the repurposing of 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



6 

vacant commercial space for uses which support community resilience and environmental 

sustainability. 

If you require further assistance, please contact RTPI Cymru on 020 7929 8197 or e-mail 

Roisin Willmott at walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk  

Yours sincerely, 

Dr Roisin Willmott OBE FRTPI 

Director 

RTPI Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 98

mailto:walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk


 Dear Mr Gruffydd,  8th September 2021 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the priorities for the Climate Change, Environment 

and Infrastructure Committee. The scope of the Committee’s work programme is extremely broad 

and challenging. However, as a Chartered Civil Engineer and as Director for the Civil Engineering 

Contractors Association (CECA) Wales, I am very pleased that infrastructure matters are being 

considered alongside the challenges of climate change and our environment. With an estimated 

17% of global carbon emissions coming from our infrastructure the challenges are significant but 

the opportunities to make positive changes are huge. However, I do have a general concern that 

with such a broad range of matters for the committee to consider there may be a risk of focusing 

largely on environmental and climate change matters at the expense of the infrastructure aspect 

of its work. I hope this is not the case. If we are to deliver on the high-level aspirations and targets 

around climate change and improvements to our environment then we need to translate these into 

actions, activities and progress “on the ground”. Having appropriate infrastructure in place will be 

critical to achieving this and I hope that the committee will be able to focus on “unblocking” any 

restrictions on delivering lower carbon infrastructure across Wales. With this in mind, a number of 

my comments relate to the practicalities of delivering on these priorities as much as the priorities 

themselves. 

I note that you are seeking views on the priorities of the Minister and Deputy Minister for Climate 

Change for the next 12-18 months and, in particular, which of these priorities the Committee 

should be focusing on over the next year or so. I also note your request for any other subject that 

should be prioritised over the next 12-18 months.  

I have set out my response based on both of these points. 

Views on the Minister and Deputy Minister’s priorities for the next 12-18 months 

The programme set out by the Minister and Deputy Minister is broad and challenging and whilst 

there is a clear emphasis on mitigating the impacts of climate change and improving our 

environment most if not all priorities will require some form of infrastructure. 

  CECA WALES/CYMRU 
Ty Ffederasiwn 

18 Cardiff Road/18 Heol Caerdydd 
Taff's Well/Ffynnon Taf 

Cardiff/Caerdydd 
CF15 7RE 

T:  029 2081 1116 
  www.ceca.co.uk  

Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd / Priorities for the Sixth 
Senedd
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith / 
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee
PR27
Ymateb gan Gymdeithas Contractwyr Peirianneg Sifil Cymru / 
Evidence from Civil Engineering Contractors Association (CECA) Wales

Tudalen y pecyn 99

Eitem 8

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s116925/Letter%20from%20the%20Minister%20and%20Deputy%20Minister%20for%20Climate%20Change%20on%20the%20Welsh%20Governments%20priorities.pdf


 
Climate Change 

The priorities set out by the Deputy Minister focus on climate adaptation actions, the requirement 

of the Climate Change Act to report on actions and future priorities and the support given by the 

Welsh Government towards innovation in this area. Whilst we agree with these we would hope to 

see the committee focus on what tangible actions the Welsh Government actually delivers, “on the 

ground”, to make real and quantifiable differences in reducing climate change impacts, 

particularly where new infrastructure is needed and/or existing infrastructure is modified or 

discontinued. 

We will shortly be launching our Annual Report on “Decarbonising Our Infrastructure”, a joint 

public and private sector report, based on the findings from our Annual Conference held in May 

2021. The report sets out an action plan of how we believe both public and private sectors need to 

collaborate far more widely if we are to decarbonise our infrastructure and what actions need to 

be taken. This could offer the committee a template to measure progress in decarbonising our 

infrastructure. I will forward a copy to the Committee Secretary when it is published.  

Energy 

The Deputy Minister’s priorities in this area highlight the partially devolved nature of energy 

responsibilities but we would hope to see this Committee scrutinise the Welsh Government’s 

targets for renewable energy, its relationship with the four regions of Wales and the UK 

Government and how it is utilising its Planning responsibilities to drive a net-zero energy system. 

This scrutiny should highlight any blockers to progress and how these can be overcome.  

We would also like to see the Committee focus on opportunities for local energy grids, particularly 

in rural areas, based on renewable technologies, which could support, amongst other things, 

renewable energy facilities for EV charging points. We are already aware of Welsh businesses 

developing such facilities and, if supported through investment opportunities, could help reduce 

our carbon footprint whilst delivering employment, business and community development 

opportunities within Wales’ “green economy”. 

Marine Energy Programme 

As well as providing the infrastructure we need to mitigate against climate change effects and 

improve our environment it is important that local companies benefit from investment and that 

high quality jobs are created for local people along with training and apprenticeships. This is 

particularly true in relation to marine energy which receives positive publicity but it is unclear how 

much of this benefits local communities. We would wish to see the Committee take an active 

interest in this area and to identify how economic and social value can be maximised for local 

communities. 

Net Zero 

We would hope to see the Committee scrutinising how the Welsh Government intends to exploit 

the opportunities in its “net-zero” strategy and how this translates to “real action” at the 

coalface. Far too often we see well intentioned Welsh Government policies fail to be properly 

implemented “on the ground” and the touted benefits fail to materialise. 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



 
In particular, we would wish to see carbon measures sitting alongside economic and social 

measures in determining infrastructure investment and that these measures follow through the 

procurement process so that public and private sector providers of infrastructure are properly 

rewarded for reducing carbon. We feel that there is a key role for the Committee to play in 

ensuring that this becomes a reality rather then a “tick box” exercise. 

Tree Planting 

The commitment to a “Woodland for Wales” Action Plan is welcomed and we would like to see the 

Committee scrutinise any proposals in relation to commercialising Wales’ timber resources, 

particularly in relation to the construction sector. This is a complex area which whilst promising 

exciting opportunities has some very serious constraints, not least the ability to grow “construction 

quality” timber. 

Nature and biodiversity 

Investment in infrastructure brings with it opportunities to increase biodiversity across Wales. 

However, it needs to be an integral part of any justification for investment in infrastructure and 

needs to be “channelled” through the procurement process with clear indicators to reward those 

better performing suppliers. Transparency around the “additional benefits” available through 

infrastructure investment for things such as jobs, training and apprenticeships and environmental 

improvements remains low at both national and local levels despite many of these issues being 

Welsh Government Procurement policy for many years. The Committee could play an important 

role in increasing this transparency which would lead to better recognition of good performers and 

better value for public money. 

Circular Economy 

The infrastructure sector, and the broader construction sector, lends itself better than most 

sectors to the introduction of a truly circular economy. The sector represents 17% of global carbon 

emissions which is not surprising given the extractive nature of much of the materials used and the 

equipment needed to build. However, it also means that there are opportunities to make 

significant improvements particularly as the Welsh public sector spends in the order of £2bn per 

annum on construction and infrastructure but rarely measures the carbon impact of this 

investment. A Committee inquiry into the Circular Economy, with the infrastructure sector as a key 

part of this, could unlock these opportunities. 

Environment 

The introduction of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), whilst positive and well-

intentioned, has not been implemented well across the public sector and has caused significant 

disruption and frustration amongst those wishing to promote infrastructure and construction 

projects across Wales. We would like to see the Committee investigating why this positive 

environmental initiative is not working well and to make recommendations for change. 

Transport 

Whilst we welcome the new National Transport Strategy, Llwybr Newydd, please see below for 

other areas requiring attention. 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



 
Digital Infrastructure 

Whilst we welcome increased investment in digital infrastructure we would like to see the 

Committee scrutinising the benefits to local businesses and communities, via social value from 

these investments.  

Digital and Data 

Improvements in digital capability are welcomed as are efforts to drive cross-sector collaboration 

but we would hope to see this extended to collaboration with the private sector so that the full 

benefits can be realised for Welsh citizens. 

Housing  

Increased investment in housing retrofit programmes are welcomed but, as with other priority 

areas, we would like to see the Committee scrutinising the benefits to local businesses and 

communities, via social value from these investments.  

Town Centre Regeneration 

As with Housing, we welcome increased investment in town centre regeneration but, as with other 

priority areas, we would like to see the Committee scrutinising the benefits to local businesses and 

communities, via social value from these investments.  

 

General observation on the priorities 

If progress is to be made across all these priorities then a far more constructive and collaborative 

approach will be needed between the Welsh and UK Governments given the devolution settlement 

that exists and the different responsibilities. Whilst current relationships appear, at times, to be 

tense and adversarial, we need to see an improvement in relationships and more positive 

cooperation if Welsh citizens are to see improvements in performance in relation to climate 

change. Increased infrastructure investment to enable these improvements will also be dependent 

on better relations and we would hope to see this Committee having a role to scrutinise this 

relationship or recommending that it be dealt with by another Senedd committee. 

 

Other subject areas that should be prioritised over the next 12-18 months 

Roads Review 

One of the first announcements made by the Deputy Minister for Climate Change was to “pause” 

the delivery of new road construction projects and to set up a “Review Panel” to advise on a 

suitable way forward given the “carbon intensive” nature of many of these projects. Whilst this is 

understandable given the declaration of a climate emergency in 2019 and the launch of the Welsh 

Government’s National Transport Strategy, Llwybr Newydd, it has created further uncertainty 

across the infrastructure sector. The Panel is not expected to report for almost 12 months which is 

a considerable period of time given that it closely follows the 18-24 month period of uncertainty 

Tudalen y pecyn 102



 
created by the Burns Review. Given that roads will continue to provide the main transport 

infrastructure for most people in Wales, whether that be via car (electric or petrol), bus or cycling 

or for transporting goods, we would like to see the Committee scrutinising the outputs of this Panel 

as soon as possible, especially given the potential impact on jobs and communities if key planned 

infrastructure investment do not go ahead. An obvious example of this is the proposed new route in 

Flintshire. 

Burns Review 

Whilst the Burns Review into transportation challenges in southeast Wales (and leading on from the 

cancellation of the M4 Relief Road project) reported some time ago progress in taking forward the 

recommendations is unclear as are work opportunities for infrastructure businesses. Many of the 

recommendations, particularly those involving partially or non-devolved functions, such as works to 

the mainline railway, require significant cooperation between Welsh and UK Governments and it is 

unclear as to whether progress is being made. We feel that the Committee should be focusing in 

this area given the significant climate change, environment and infrastructure issues associated 

with the Burns recommendations. We also feel that as this approach could provide a template for 

future transportation investment (see Roads Review above) then, as an industry sector, we need 

clarity for the future so that we can maintain employment across many of Wales’ communities. 

 

I trust that these views and observations are helpful to you and your Committee but please contact 

me should you wish to discuss these matters in greater detail. 

Yours sincerely 

 
 

Ed Evans 
Director, CECA Wales/Cymru 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 103


	Agenda
	2 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 – Trafnidiaeth
	Llythyr gan y Gweinidog a'r Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd ynghylch blaenoriaethau Llywodraeth Cymru mewn perthynas â newid yn yr hinsawdd, yr amgylchedd a seilwaith
	Papur – Sustrans (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur - Transform Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur - Cydffederasiwn Cludiant Teithwyr Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)
	FINAL CCEI Committee Priorities.pdf
	FINAL Bws Cymru - CPT Cymru Approach.pdf


	3 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 – Trafnidiaeth
	5 Ystyried adroddiad drafft y Pwyllgor ar y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar gyfer Bil yr Amgylchedd
	6 Trafod blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor
	7 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 3 – Cynllunio
	8 Blaenoriaethau ar gyfer y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 4 – Seilwaith



